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Nextera Enterprises Inc. currently
consists of Lexecon Inc., one of
the world’s preeminent economics
consulting firms. We provide

law firms, corporations, and

government agencies with
impartial economic analysis of
complex issues that arise in legal
proceedings, business strategy,
and public policy matters.
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CREDIBILITY

“The results of our research can influence federal regulation,
shape the course of a legal proceeding, or alter the way a
company carries out its business practices. It is imperative
that we design our analyses to withstand rigorous professional
scrutiny. Our history of long-term client relationships is
testimony to our credibility in the field.”

DanieL R. FISCHEL

(J.D., Law, The University of Chicago)
The Lee and Brena Freeman Professor of Law and Business at The University of Chicago Law School. Mr. Fischel has written widely
on securities, commodities, corporation law, regulation of financial markets, and the application of the economics of corporate
finance to problems in these areas. In addition, he has served as a consultant or advisor to the New York Stock Exchange, National
Association of Securities Dealers, U.S. Department of Labor, Federal Trade Commission, Securities and Exchange Commission, and
Chicago Board of Trade.

VALUE

“Lexecon’s experience in numerous complex high profile
projects enables us to provide clients with valuable economic
insights. Our analyses always rest on solid theoretical and
empirical foundations. Consequently, the value of our
contributions is reflected in the frequency with which our
clients base business, economic, regulatory, and legal strategies
on Lexecon’s research results.”

CHARLES C. Cox
(Ph.D., Economics, The University of Chicago)

Dr. Cox formerly served as Commissioner from 1983 to 1989 and Acting Chairman in 1987 of the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, where he was responsible for enforcing and interpreting the federal securities laws. Dr. Cox was Chief Economist of the
SEC from 1982 to 1983, with responsibility for analyzing the economic effects of proposed rules and legislation and for evaluating
established SEC policy, Prior to serving at the SEC, Dr. Cox taught economics at Ohio State University and Texas A&M University.
At Lexecon, Dr. Cox specializes in financial markets and industrial organization.




GREAT MINDS

“Lexecon has been at the forefront of applying some of the
latest developments in academic research to practical business
and litigation problems. Our team of leading academics and
professional staff applies cutting edge skills in a wide range of
business contexts.”

Dennis W. CARLTON

(Ph.D., Economics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology)
Professor of Economics at The University of Chicago Graduate School of Business. Dr. Carlton taught in the Economics Departments
of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and The University of Chicago, and at The University of Chicago Law School hefore
joining the faculty of the Graduate School of Business. He specializes in theoretical and applied microeconomics as well as indus-

trial organization and antitrust. Dr. Carlton is Co-Editor of the Journal of Law & Economics and has appeared as an expert before
courts, administrative agencics, and Congress and has consulted for the Department of fustice and the Federal Trade Commission.

INTEGRITY

“On occasion clients approach us with claims we cannot

support. In those cases we tell them directly so they can seek
other consulting resources. And sometimes the results of our
independent research don't entirely support our client’s ideal
positions. When this happens, we inform the client of our
findings so they can plan or reposition their strategy accordingly.”

JERRY A. HaUSMAN
(D. Phil, Economics, Oxford University)

The John and jennic S. MacDonald Professor of Economics at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Dr. Hausman is a
nationally recognized expert in antitrust, mergers and acquisitions, and cconometrics, and his arcas of academic research are
cconometrics and applied microcconomics. In 1985, he reccived the John Bates Clark Award from the American Economics
Association, which is awarded biannually for the most outstanding contribution to economics by an ccononmist under the age ol 40.
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OBJECTIVITY

“Our work includes collecting and analyzing massive amounts
of data, carefully considering the underlying meanings, and
examining the characteristics and patterns of information.
This has to be done before reaching any conclusions. Our
analyses have influenced some of the most hotly contested
legal and political debates over antitrust and merger policy.”

Josepu P. KaALT
(Ph.D., Economics, The University of California, Los Angeles)

The Ford Foundation Professor of International Political Economy at the John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University.
Dr. Kalt is a world-renowned expert on antitrust economics and regulated industries, with special expertise in the energy sector,
railroads, airlines, regulated utilities, and international trade regulation. He is also a prominent expert on American Indian
economic development and co-directs the Harvard Project on American Indian Economic Development.

EXPERTISE

“We are centrally involved in many different high-profile projects
domestically and internationally. We offer our clients a wealth of
insights and the benefit of past experience. Whether the matter
in question regards cutting-edge regulatory issues or valuation
of economic assets in competitive markets, we provide tailored
solutions to a broad range of challenges. Our groundbreaking
work in competition policy has changed the public debate in

the electricity industry.”

Susan E TIERNEY
(Ph.D., Regional Planning, Cornell University)

Served as Assistant Secretary for Policy at the U.S. Department of Energy. Prior to her federal service, Dr. Tierney was the
Massachusetts Secretary of Environmental Affairs; Commissioner of the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities; Executive
Director of the Massachusetts Energy Facilities Siting Council; and senior economist for the Massachusetts Executive Office of
Energy Resources. She has a national reputation as an expert in the electric industry, with experience in energy facilities, wholesale
markets, environmental policy, retail restructuring policy, reliability issues, and transmission policies.




MESSAGE TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

2001 was a vear of transformation. Qur world was forever changed by
the tragedy of September 11. Qur economy was forced to remodel to
meet new challenges. And, Nextera transformed, as we pursued a plan
to return to profitability. Today, our transformation is complete and we
are pleased to say that Nextera is a very different company than it was
a year ago. In the process, we delivered on our promise of achieving
operating profitability by the second quarter 2001 and have been
profitable on a pro-forma' basis ever since,

In 2001 we embarked on a plan to align our strategy with the changing and challenging market for professional
consulting services. Qur transformation commenced in January, as we began to reduce corporate overhead and our
debt, continued as we exited the technology consulting market in October, and concluded with the divestiture of
the Sibson Consulting Group at the end of January 2002. These efforts have allowed us to focus our attention and
resources solely on Lexecon, our highly profitable economics consulting firm, always our most prestigious and best
performing asset.

For nearly three decades, Lexecon has been providing unparalleled economic insights and industry points-of-view
surrounding some of the most complex issues facing its predominantly Fortune 500 clients. The firm’s founders
were pioneers in developing the fundamental principles and techniques of applying economics to complex legal and
regulatory matters. Entering 2002, Lexecon’s team includes 158 professional consultants and practice support staff.
More than half of our team has earned a PhD or master level degree in various specialty areas. Additionally, we draw
on the expertise of leading academic authorities from the most prestigious universities, including University of
Chicago, Harvard, MIT, and Stanford. Our staff and affiliate relationships include three recipients of the Nobel
Memorial Prize in economics. The need for Lexecon’s expertise is increasing and the firm enjoys a significant share of
the competitive litigation and regulatory economics consulting market.

2001 RESULTS

Lexecon experienced another stellar year, generating revenues of $72.8 million. The firm’s operating income in 2001,
after ongoing corporate costs, totaled $12.0 million® on very strong utilization levels of 77%. Lexecon’s $470,000 of
revenue per professional and double-digit margins are among the highest in the industry. Further, we are proud to say
that 65% of our revenues are derived from returning clients.

j Excludes special charges, goodwill impairment, and goodwill amortization expense.
“ Excludes goodwill amortization expense.




MicHAEL P. MULDOWNEY  Chief Financial Officer
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Overall, Nextera’s revenues in 2001 fell 24% to $122.3 million from $161.0 million in 2000. Full year loss including
goodwill amortization and special charges totaled $117.5 million or $3.41 per share. It should be noted that out of the
total book loss, $72.5 million or $2.07 per share were due to the non-cash goodwill impairment associated with the
Sibson Consulting Group and Technology Solutions Group. Special charges taken in 2001 reflect severance costs,
real-estate charges and employee incentive-related charges.

Nextera continued to strengthen its capital structure and on April 1, 2002 signed an amended credit agreement
to extend its senior credit facility through January 2, 2004. The Company now has approximately $30.4 million
outstanding under its senior credit facility, down from $46.0 million at the beginning of 2001. Nextera’s overall
2001 performance was due in large part to the challenging economic environment impacting its human capital and
technology divisions but not Lexecon as evidenced by its 19.8% revenue growth and high profitability.

LoOKING AHEAD

As Nextera’s sole business unit moving forward, Lexecon has exciting growth potential. With a strong financial base,
we are poised to expand upon the firm’s history of consistent profitability. The U.S. litigation and regulatory
economics consulting market is expected to continue to grow approaching $1 billion in the near future. The Lexecon
name is synonymous with cutting-edge thought leadership and, in a world that is in the midst of rapid global-
ization, rampant consolidation, and increased competitive pressure, is extremely well positioned to meet the needs of
its clients.

Today, when the credibility of many traditional professional service firms has been shaken, Lexecon stands tall.
As a result of the increased scale and scope of complex issues facing corporate management and boardrooms across the
world, from M&A transactions to new business strategies, executives must make fundamental decisions about where to
place their trust. In short, the stakes are higher than ever and the need for unbiased, truly objective guidance has risen
to the highest priority on corporate management’s list. For a quarter century, Lexecon has provided its clients with
superior guidance and a focus on integrity; and we believe we are well positioned to take an increasing share in the area
of business consulting services.

Going forward, we will grow our services by leveraging our deep competencies in economics and knowledge of key
industry issues, with the added potential of expanding our geographic footprint nationally and internationally. We are
looking to extend our service offerings to meet the new opportunities in this developing marketplace. And as
always, we will continue to strengthen Lexecon’s capabilities through bringing in the best and brightest minds in
consulting and through select acquisitions.

Lexecon’s prospects for future success are as clear as its remarkable 25-year reputation. Its strategic position
couldn’t be better. Through Lexecon, we look forward to continuing to provide our guidance to help our corporate and
government clients solve some of the most pressing issues facing them today.

Davip M. SCHNEIDER
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer




LEXECON 2001 OPERATING STATISTICS

2001

$72,848,000

Fee REVENUES

19.8%

GROWTH RATE % VS$. PRIOR YEAR

$30,289,000

(GROSS MARGIN - §

41.6%

(GROSS MARGIN -

$12,052,000

ApjusTeD EBITA (1)

16.5%

ApyusTED EBITA MARGIN (

155

AVERAGE # OF PROFESSIONALS (2)

$470,000

ANNUALIZED REVENUES PER PROFESSIONAL (2)

76.8%

CHARGEABILITY

Less than 5%

UNPLANNED ATTRITION

(1) The above amounts include the financial operations of Lexecon adjusted to include the costs associated with the
current corporate infrastructure excluding special charges, goodwill impairment, and goodwill amortization expense.

(2) Professionals include consultants and practice support staff.
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VALUE OF LEXECON IN LiTiGAaTION CONSULTING

In today’s litigious world, the outcome of
major litigation can affect shareholder value by
millions if not billions of dollars. Success in
litigation proceedings, like success in any
other area of business, requires expertise. The
need for legal expertise in such matters is
obvious. But, in many proceedings, economic
expertise is also critical. Success or failure
frequently turns on the quality of the analysis
and testimony of an economic expert. This is
where Lexecon comes in. Founded 25 years
ago, Lexecon is a firm of consulting economists
with a track record of success in litigation
that we believe is second to none. Lexecon’s
integrity and experienced team help ensure the
abiding loyalty of its clients.

ANTITRUST

Lexecon was started with the main focus of
solving a wide variety of complex issues
related to antitrust. Our particular approach
to the application of sophisticated economic
theory and the use of tools of empirical
analysis has given the firm an impeccable
reputation as one of the most credible and
reliable experts on litigation matters.

Lexecon has consulted in hundreds of
antitrust proceedings involving allegations
of price fixing, predatory pricing, and
exclusionary conduct. We also provide expert
advice on issues such as the impact that
planned mergers and acquisitions may have on
a particular market and its customers, and
ultimately, on our clients’ product or service
outputs, prices, internal resources, and their
overall competitiveness.

One rare and differentiating characteristic
of our team of great thinkers is that, after very
complex economic and technical analyses,
our highly skilled experts are capable of pre-
senting their opinions and recommendations
in a way that is simple, clear, and accessible
for clients, judges, juries, law firms, and other
interested parties.

FINANCE

Hardly a day passes without news of a lawsuit
alleging securities fraud, breach of contract,
insider trading, market manipulation, oppres-
sion of minority investors, and the like. Both
plaintiffs and defendants in such cases rely
heavily on economic experts to identify the




issues, conduct the analysis, and present the
results in a clear and compelling manner.
Experts from Lexecon have testified success-
fully in hundreds of cases involving these
kinds of issues. The depth and breadth of our
expertise in financial economics, economet-
rics, and statistics allows us to provide valu-
able insights in virtually any type of industry.

Integrity is critical to our on-going suc-
cess. Our business depends on our reputation
for careful, truthful analysis. We never write or
say anything we can not back up.

OTHER AREAS

In our 25-year history, we have achieved a
thorough understanding of the economics and
institutional dynamics of many industries. We
have used this knowledge to help clients on a
wide array of complex litigation issues. We
have testified in contract disputes, where our
expertise in economics and industry practices,
for example in the electric and gas industries,
has helped clients defend their positions and
win or settle complex cases. We have developed
tools and methods to value intellectual proper-
ty and estimate damages from infringement of

patents, copyrights, trademarks, and trade
secrets that have been used in many judicial
proceedings.

Our consultants also give expert testimony
on sensitive employment matters such as
discrimination and sexual harassment; and
on a variety of other topics including transfer
pricing and other tax-related matters; dumping
claims, countervailing duties, tariffs, quotas,
and other international trade issues; claims
and liabilities from various executive compen-
sation schemes; and issues arising in regulated
industries.

13
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VALUE OF LEXECON IN BUSINESS CONSULTING

Lexecon’s credibility and reputation have
extended beyond the areas of litigation and
regulatory matters. We are being called upon
increasingly to assist clients in the decision-
making process on other strategic business
issues as well. Lexecon's expertise in econom-
ics and regulation has provided assistance to
companies in such areas as developing pricing
strategies to maximize revenues; responding to
different economic conditions and regulatory
climates; determining the financial viability of
entering new markets; understanding the reg-
ulatory risks of pursuing prospective mergers
and acquisitions; identifying the impacts of
such transactions on customers, competition,
and business goals of the company; shaping
regulatory policies that create economic value
out of certain environmental attributes of a
project or investment; and designing business
strategies that appropriately balance regulato-
ry and financial risk and reward. These are
the underpinnings of business moves that
can make a company gain real competitive
advantages. We have added value to mergers,

strategic business transactions, project devel-
opments, pricing strategies and investment
opportunities for assets in the electric and gas
industries, telecommunications, railroads, and
intellectual property, to name a few.

Our understanding of market dynamics,
the forces that drive the economic environ-
ment, and the changing nature of business
regulation, coupled with our broad experience
from working on multiple industries, is what
clients are looking for to increase the likeli-
hood of success for many of their strategic
plans and actions.




VALUE OF LEXECON IN PuBLIiCc PoLICY AND REGULATION

Lexecon's principals are some of the most
well-regarded public policy experts in the
country in such areas as energy, railroads,
securities regulation, and telecommunications,
among others. For years, Lexecon's senior
consultants have been providing expert wit-
ness testimony in federal, foreign, and state
regulatory proceedings; testimony before con-
gressional committees and state legislatures;
and advice to clients on a range of issues at
the intersection of economics, business and
government policy.

Likewise, whether a firm obtains the regu-
latory treatment that it seeks can have
dramatic effects on its ability to execute its
business strategy. As experts in public policy
and economic regulation, we have helped
companies, for example, to explain that their
proposed mergers do not raise market power
problems, that their proposed power plants
and transmission lines are consistent with the
public interest, that the prices they charge
are consistent with competitive markets, that
their proposed plans for restructuring their
companies are appropriate for their combined
participation in regulated and competitive
businesses. In regulatory proceedings, we have
testified on proper market design policies,

proposals to site merchant generation and
transmission facilities, design of environ-
mental allowance trading rules, market
power mitigation approaches, and merger
policy rules.

Additionally, Lexecon has produced
numerous studies and white papers on public
policy issues of importance to corporations,
trade associations, foundations, and gov-
ernmental agencies, including the U.S.
Department of Transportation, the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission, the Federal
Communications Commission, the Securities
and Exchange Commission, and the National
Association of Securities Dealers among
others. Our expertise includes cases where our
consultants have analyzed the impact of gov-
ernment-sponsored enterprises such as Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac, the implications of
environmental regulation on U.S international
competitiveness, the after-effects of deregulat-
ing purchase prices of natural gas, and the
effectiveness of state processes for siting
power plants. Lexecon is also at the vanguard
of the research on the economic, cultural,
and political factors required for suc-
cessful economic development of Native
American nations.
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REPRESENTATIVE LIST OF CLIENTS THAT LEXECON HAS SERVED

CORPORATE CLIENTS

ABBOUL LABURAIORIES
ALLIANT ENERGY CORPORATION
AMBrv
AMERISOURCEBFRGEN CORPORATION
ANDREW CORPORATION
ANHEUSER-BuscH CoaxpaNies, Inc.
ARCHER DaNtrrs MipeanD CoMpany
Bank oF AMERICA CORPORATION
BASF CorpoRrAaTION
Brar Stearxs « Co., Inc,
Broron, DickiNsoN & Conpany
BERGEN BRUNSWIG CORPORATION
BP Asoco

Burrincrox Norrurry Sanra Fr CorRPORATION

Burrerworta Hearrn Core
Carvin KieiN, Inc,
CDW Cospurir CENTERS, INC.
CHARLES SCHwaB & CoMPANY, INC,
CHevRONTEXACO Corp.

CLEVELAND CLINIC Froripa

Cospuier Associares INTerNaroNaL, Inc.

Prersent Tirokom AG
DIAGEO PLC
Eastaran Kopak Costpany
Epwarn Joxes
E1 Paso CORPORATION
Eor Licey & Coapany
Ernst &« Youse LIP
Heavrn Firse Inc,

INIC Grosar Inc,

ING (US)) SECURITIES, FUTURES & OPTIONS, INC.

Keaineriy-Cl ark CORPORATION
Lecent Tecnsoroarirs, Inc.
Mororoea, INc,

NATIONAL SEMICONDUCTOR CORPORATION

Narvrat Gas Corrorarion or New Zearano Livirrp

Navato NATIoON
NEXTEL COMMUNICATIONS INC,
NUCOR STEEL CORPORATION
PGxE CorroratioN
Prutties Prrrorrust Coarany
PPL Corporarion
PrupeNtian Scevrities, Inc.

ROBERTSON STEPHENS, [NC.

SALOMON SnmiitH Barney Howpings, INC.
SBC Comaunications Inc.
SITHE ENERGIES, INC,
SONY CORPORATION
STORAGE TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
SUMITOMO CORPORATION OF AMERICA
SUN MICROSYSTEMS, INC.

SYSTEM SOFTWARE ASSOCEATES, INC.
TeLECOM CORPORATION OF NEW ZEALAND LIMITED
TerLéronos DE MExtco SA, pe. C V. {Teimex)
Tue Dow CHEMICAL COMPANY
Trans Untox CORPORATION
TorarFinaEry
Unton Pactrie Rartroan CoMpany
UNITED AIRLINES, INC,

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS

WaRNER-LAMBERT

Law Firms

ArNOLD & PorrER
Baker Bors, L.L.P
CRAVATH, SWAINE & MOORE
Davis, Porx & WarDwELL
Frien, FRANK, HARRLS, SHRIVER & JACOBSON
Jones, Day, Reavis x PoGue
Kirktann & Eviss
LarHaM & WATKINS
Maver, Brown, Rowr & Maw
MorGan, Lewis & Bockius LLP
MORRISON & Forrster LLP
Paut, WEISS, RIFKIND, WHARTON & GARRISON
Piresgury-WintHROP LLP
SHEARMAN & STERLING
SIMPSON, THACHER & BARTIETT
SKADDEN, ARPS, SIATE, MFAGHFR & From, LLP
Strinvan x Croawerr
VINSON & Brkins LLP
Wacnrer, Livron, Rosen &« Katrz
Weit, Gorstar « Maxars LLP

WINSTON & STRAWN
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
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Securities registered pursuant to Sectien 12(b) of the Act:
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Form 10-K. O

As of March 22, 2002, the aggregate market value of the registrant’s Class A voting stock held by non-
affiliates of the registrant was approximately $13,102,893, based on the closing price of the Company’s Class A
Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market on March 22, 2002 of $0.57 per share.

As of March 22, 2002, 31,885,896 shares of registrant’s Class A Common Stock, $0.001 par value, were
outstanding and 3,869,570 shares of registrant’s Class B Common Stock, $0.001 par value, were outstanding.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The following discussion contains ‘‘forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements give our
current expectations or forecasts of future events. These statements can be identified by the fact that they do
not relate strictly to historic or current facts. They use words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“project,”” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any
discussion of future operating or financial performance. In particular, these forward-looking statements
include statements relating to future actions or the outcome of financial results. From time to time, we also
may provide oral or written forward-looking statements in other materials released to the public. Any or all of
the forward-looking statements in this annual report and in any other public statements may turn out to be
incorrect. They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties.

Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. Actual results may vary materially.

3 4a
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Forward-looking statements are based on many factors that may be outside our control, causing actual
results to differ materially from those suggested. These factors include, but are not limited to, those discussed
under the caption “Item 1. Business — Factors That May Affect Cur Future Performance.” New factors
emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all these factors nor can we assess the impact
of these factors on our business or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual
results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual
results.




PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Nextera Enterprises exited the technology consulting business during the later half of 2001 and sold its
human capital consulting business (Sibson) on January 30, 2002, After the January 30, 2002 sale, Nextera
Enterprises consists of Lexecon, one of the world’s preeminent economics consulting firms. For nearly
25 years, Lexecon has provided law firms, corporations and regulatory agencies with expert analysis of
complex economic issues in connection with legal and regulatory proceedings, strategic planning and other
business activities. The firm provides thorough theoretical analysis of issues that face its clients and subjects
theoretical analysis to rigorous and creative empirical evaluation of the evidence. Lexecon’s successes in the
courtroom and before regulatory agencies have demonstrated the value of its assistance.

Lexecon was founded in 1977. Its professional staff of economists includes many well-known academics
and three Nobel laureates. Lexecon’s clients include major law firms and the corporations that they represent,
government and regulatory agencies, public and private utilities and national and multinational corporations.

Lexecon’s services involve the application of economic, financial and public policy principles to
marketplace issues in a large variety of industries. The firm’s services fall into three broad areas: litigation
support, business consulting and public policy studies.

Litigation Support: Lexecon provides expert witness testimony and other litigation-related services in
adversarial proceedings in courts and before regulatory bodies and arbitrators. The firm applies economic
principles in understanding the specific features of its client’s business and the competitive and regulatory
context in which it operates.

Business Consulting: Lexecon assists corporate clients in analyzing business and strategic issues outside
the context of litigation or regulation. Lexecon consults on the likely competitive impact of proposed mergers,
predicting the likely reaction of regulatory agencies, competitors and customers to possible business
combinations. Lexecon also advises on pricing and other strategic decisions, such as entry into new business
areas, addition of new production capacity, and by helping firms predict how competitors are likely to react
and how these events would affect the nature of future competition.

Public Policy Studies: Lexecon has performed numerous public policy studies on behalf of individual
companies, trade associations and governmental agencies in the United States and internationally. Lexecon’s
studies have been submitted to such agencies as the U.S. Department of Transportation, the Securities and
Exchange Commission, the National Association of Securities Dealers, the Federal Communications
Commission, and the U.S. Department of Commerce.

Industry Background

Driven by an increasingly complex and litigious regulatory and legal environment and by consolidation in
various industries, the litigation and regulatory economics consulting market continues to grow and diversify.
Testimony from economic experts plays a crucial role in a wide variety of judicial and regulatory proceedings.
The role of economists in antitrust cases illustrates the importance of economic testimony. Economists are
used in antitrust cases to define relevant markets, to assess competition in relevant markets, to examine the
competitive effects of various contractual arrangements and business practices, to calculate damages, and to
address other related issues. Economists testify in court on antitrust issues; they also routinely make
presentations to government agencies in connection with government investigations of antitrust issues.

Antitrust is not the only area of litigation or regulation in which economics plays a central role. Economic
testimony and analysis is also routine and critically important in areas such as securities fraud litigation,
intellectual property damages, contract damages, and allegations of market manipulation. Economic analysis
is also central in policy debates and regulatory rule making; Lexecon for example has been actively involved in
policy and regulatory matters in the telecommunication, energy and financial services industries.
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Because of the importance of economic analysis in litigation and regulatory proceedings, an industry of
specialized consulting firms has developed to meet this need. Lexecon and the other firms in this niche of the
consulting industry feature highly qualified testifying experts, wha are supported by a professional staff of
consultants (many of whom themselves hold doctorates in economics and other advanced degrees). In many
cases, Lexecon’s direct client is a law firm that represents a company or organization involved in a legal or
regulatory proceeding.

Economic analysis is also valuable in helping businesses make pricing and other strategic decisions, such
as entry into new areas and anticipating competitor reactions. However, because these are areas in which a
number of consulting firms compete, including the major accounting firms and management consulting firms,
most of our business consulting work is follow-on work that comes after a successful engagement on a
litigation support project.

QOur Advantage

Lexecon has been a leader in the application of economic theory to legal, regulatory and business issues
since the firm’s founding in 1977. Since that time, Lexecon has expanded its service offerings from traditional
antitrust litigation to include a broad range of issues including securities, public policy matters, employment
issues, damage analysis, and business strategy.

Lexecon’s continued success is due to its ability to produce, high quality economic analysis on a timely
basis and its ability to present and defend this analysis effectively. Lexecon’s staff are experts at identifying the
key issues in a case; analyzing these issues using the appropriate methods (which frequently involves the use
of sophisticated statistical techniques); and presenting the results of the analysis in a clear and coherent
manner. Lexecon’s reputation for high quality economic analysis is reflected in the fact that a high percentage
of its new projects are from law firms and corporations who have retained the firm previously.

Lexecon’s staff includes 158 professional consultants, analysts, and practice support, of which 81 have a
PhD or master level degree. Lexecon’s staff and affiliate relationships include many distinguished academics,
including three recipients of the Nobel Memorial Prize in economics.

As a result of years of experience, Lexecon has developed a sophisticated knowledge of the economics
and institutional structures in a variety of industries and array of legal and regulatory matters.

Client Profile

As of January 30, 2002, Nextera Enterprises, Inc. consists only of Lexecon. Lexecon’s clients include
major law firms; domestic and foreign corporations; and governments and government agencies. Lexecon’s
10 largest clients in 2001 accounted for approximately 38% of its net revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2001 and 35% for the year ended December 31, 2000. One client accounted for 17% and 11% of
Lexecon’s net revenues in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Competition

The economic and business consulting industry has a large number of competitors comprised of economic
consulting firms, individual academics, Big Five and other accounting firm consulting practices, and general
management consulting firms. We believe the principal competitive factors in our industry are reputation,
analytical ability of our professional staff, client service, and industry expertise. We believe that we compete
favorably with respect to these factors. However, some of our competitors have significantly greater financial,
and marketing resources and greater name recognition than Lexecon. In addition, some of these competitors
have been operating for a longer period of time than has Lexecon and have established long-term client
relationships. We also face competition in our efforts to recruit and retain professional staff.

Employees

As of December 31, 2001, Nextera had 391 employees, including 264 consultants. After the January 30,
2002 sale of the human capital consulting business, Nextera had 234 employees and 158 consultants, analysts

3




and practice support. None of our employees are represented by a union or subject to a collective bargaining
agreement. We believe that our relations with our employees are good.

Factors That May Affect Qur Future Performance

You should carefully consider the following risk factors in your evaluation of our company. If any of the
following risks actually occur it could materially harm our business and impair the price of our stock.

We may be unable to comply with certain covenants under our Senior Credit Facility.

The Company signed an amended and restated credit agreement in March 29, 2002. Under the amended
and restated Senior Credit Facility, the Company is required to make an aggregate of $6.5 million and
$8.0 million in principal payments in 2002 and 2003, respectively. The debt is due in full on January 2, 2004.
The Company is required to maintain certain financial covenants. Borrowings under the facility will bear
interest at the lender’s base rate plus 2.0%, with the potential for the borrowing rate to be reduced 100 basis
points upon achieving certain financial and operational milestones. If the Company fails to comply with the
financial covenants, the interest could increase 200 basis points. Additionally, failure of the Company to
maintain its financial covenants, extend employment agreements with certain key personnel, or make all
principal and interest payments to the Senior Lenders as they become due and payable would be events of
default under the Senior Credit Facility and the Senior Lenders would be entitled to exercise any remedy
available to them, including a possible acceleration of amounts due. Such an occurrence would materially and
adversely affect our operations and financial condition. Please see Part I, Item 7 — Liquidity and Capital
Resources.

High levels of debt could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

We have very high levels of debt in relation to the size of our business. As of December 31, 2001, we had
$38.4 million of outstanding indebtedness under our Senior Credit Facility, $14.5 million of which was
classified as a current liability. In addition, as of December 31, 2001, we had $23.1 million of outstanding
indebtedness under debentures payable to affiliates. We have also approved the exchange of outstanding
Series A Preferred Stock for additional debentures. If converted in full, stockholders’ equity would decrease by
$22.9 million and debentures due to affiliates would increase by approximately $23.5 million.

Our high leverage could have important consequences, including the following:

> a substantial portion of our future cash flows from operations must be dedicated to the servicing of our
debt, thus reducing the funds available for operations and investments;

> our ability to obtain additional financing may be impaired;

o our leverage may reduce our ability to adjust rapidly to changing market conditions and may make us
more vulnerable to future downturns in the general economy; and

° high levels of debt may reduce the value of stockholders’ investments in Nextera because debt holders
have priority regarding our assets in the event of a bankruptcy or liquidation.

We may not have sufficient future cash flows to meet our debt payments, and may not be able to
refinance any of our debt at maturity.

We face possible delisting from the Nasdag National Mavket which would result in a limited public
market for our Class A Common Stock.

There are several requirements for the continued listing of the Company’s Class A Common Stock on the
Nasdaq National Market including, but not limited to, a minimum stock price of one dollar per share. On
February 14, 2002, the Company received notification from the Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq™) that the
Company had failed to maintain a2 minimum bid price of $1.00 for 30 consecutive days and will be delisted
from the Nasdaq National Market unless by May 15, 2002 the Company can comply with the minimum bid
price requirement for at least 10 consecutive days. If Nasdaq decides to delist the Class A Common Stock, the
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Company would have the right to appeal this decision, however, there can be no assurances that such an
appeal would be successful. If a decision to delist the Company’s Class A Common Stock is made, the
Company may apply for listing on the Nasdaq Smallcap Market, subject to Nasdaq’s approval. The listing
requirements for the Nasdaq Smallcap Market also include a $1.00 minimum bid price requirement, subject
to designated grace periods. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that the Company could obtain or maintain a
listing on the Nasdaq Smallcap Market. Delisting from the Nasdaq National Market could adversely affect
the liquidity and price of the Class A Common Stock and it could have a long-term impact on the Company’s
ability to raise future capital.

We heavily depend on a small number of senior consulting executives and other key personnel, and the
loss of any of them may damage client relationships and cause our reputation to suffer.

Our success is highly dependent upon the efforts, abilities, business generation capabilities and project
execution skills of a small number of senior consulting executives and other key personnel. This dependence is
particularly important to our business because personal relationships and reputations are a critical element of
obtaining and maintaining client engagements. The loss of the services of any of these persons for any reason
could have an adverse effect on our reputation and our ability to secure and complete engagements. Most of
our consultants are not subject to employment or non-compete agreements. A number of our senior consulting
executives that are responsible for a substantial amount of our business are subject to employment and/or
non-compete agreements, some of which begin to expire on or about December 31, 2002. We may not be able
to retain these persons or to attract suitable replacements or additional personnel if necessary. We generally do
not maintain key person life insurance coverage for our employees.

In addition, if any of these key employees joins a competitor or forms a competing business, some of our
clients might choose to use the services of that competitor or new company. Further, in the event of the loss of
any such personnel, we may not be able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our technical
knowledge, practices or procedures by these personnel. As a result, we might lose existing or potential clients.

If we fail to attract, retain and ivain skilied consuitants, our reputation will suffer and our vevenues and
operating profits could decline.

Because our business involves the delivery of professional services, our success depends upon our ability
to attract, retain, motivate and train highly skilled consultants. If we fail to do so it could impair our ability to
effectively manage and complete our client projects and secure future client engagements, and as a result our
reputation could suffer and our future revenues and operating profits could decline.

Even if we are able to retain our current consultants and expand the number of our qualified consultants,
the resources required to attract, retain, motivate and train these consultants could adversely affect our
operating profits.

If we fail to meet our clients’ expectations, we could damage ouy veputation and have difficulty attracting
new business.

Our client engagements often involve projects that are complex and critical to the operation of a client’s
business. Qur failure or inability to meet a client’s expectations, or the law firm that engaged us, in the
performance of our services could result in damage to our reputation, which could adversely affect our ability
to attract new business from that client or others. In addition, if we fail to perform adequately on a project, a
client could refuse to pay or sue us for economic damages which could further damage our reputation or cause
a reduction in future revenues and operating profits.

We may not successfully compete with our competitors, whici could result in reduced revenues and
operating profits.

The economic and business consulting industry has a large number of competitors comprised of economic
consulting firms, individual academics, Big Five and other accounting firm consulting practices, and general
management consulting firms. We believe the principal competitive factors in our industry are reputation, the
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analytical ability of our professional staff, client service, and industry expertise. We believe that we compete
favorably with respect to these factors. However, some of our competitors have greater financial and marketing
resources and greater name recognition than Lexecon. In addition, some of these competitors have been
operating for a longer period of time than has Lexecon and have established long-term client relationships. We
also face competition in our efforts to recruit and retain professional staff. If Lexecon is not successful in
competition with its rivals, its future revenues and operating profits could decline.

We have relied and may continue to vely on a limited number of clients and industries for a significant
portion of our revenues and, as a vesult, the loss of or a significant veduction in work performed for any
of them could vesult in reduced revenues.

We have in the past derived, and may in the future derive, a significant portion of our net revenues from a
relatively limited number of clients. To the extent that any client or industry uses less of our services or
terminates its relationship with us, our revenues could decline accordingly. For example, for the year ended
December 31, 2001, our ten largest clients accounted for approximately 28% of our net revenues. For the year
ended December 31, 2001, our largest client accounted for approximately 9% of our net revenues. Further,
clients in the (1) financial services; (2) information technologies, communications and entertainment; and
(3) consumer products and retail industries accounted for approximately 20%, 15%, and 15%, respectively, of
our net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001. These figures include the operations of our technology
and human capital consulting businesses, which have been discontinued or sold.

Lexecon had a slightly higher level of concentration among clients. Lexecon’s 10 largest clients in 2001
accounted for approximately 38% of its net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001 and 35% for the
yvear ended December 31, 2000. One client accounted for 17% and 11% of its net revenues in 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

The volume of work we perform for a specific client is likely to vary from year to year, and a significant
client in one year may not use our services in another year. Further, the failure to collect a large account
receivable from any of these clients could result in significant financial exposure. In addition, any economic
conditions or other factors adversely affecting any of the industries or any increase in the size or number of
competitors within the industries we service could cause our revenues to decline.

Nextera Enterprises Holdings owns 67.6% of our voting stock and can control matters submitted to our
stockholders and its interests may be different from yours.

Nextera Enterprises Holdings owns 8,810,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 3,844,200 shares of
Class B Common Stock, which together represent approximately 67.6% of the voting power of our outstanding
common stock. The Class A Common Stock entitles its holders to one vote per share, and the Class B
Common Stock entitles its holders to ten votes per share, on all matters submitted to a vote of our
stockholders, including the election of the members of the Board of Directors. Accordingly, Nextera
Enterprises Holdings will be able to determine the disposition of all matters submitted to a vote of our
stockholders, including mergers, transactions involving a change in control and other corporate transactions
and the terms thereof. In addition, Nextera Enterprises Holdings will be able to elect all of our directors,
except for one director to be elected in accordance with the terms of a stockholders agreement. This control by
Nextera Enterprises Holdings could materially adversely affect the market price of the Class A Common
Stock or delay or prevent a change in control of our company.

Nextera Enterprises Holdings is indirectly controlled by Knowledge Universe, Inc. Knowledge Universe,
Inc. was formed by Lawrence J. Ellison, Michael R. Milken and Lowell J. Milken to build, through a
combination of internal development and acquisitions, leading companies in a broad range of areas relating to
career management, technology and education and the improvement of individual and corporate performance.
Knowledge Universe, Inc. may form, invest in or acquire other businesses which are involved in these and
related areas, among others, which businesses may be operated under the control of Knowledge Universe, Inc.
independently of us. Potential conflicts of interest between Knowledge Universe and us may arise and may not
be resolved in our favor. These potential conflicts of interest include competitive business activities, indemnity
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arrangements, registration rights, sales or distributions by Nextera Enterprises Holdings of our Class A and
Class B Common Stock and the exercise by Nextera Enterprises Holdings of its ability to control our
management and affairs. This controi and the potential conflicts of interest it creates could limit our future
independence and harm our reputation.

We were formed in February 1997 by entities which were under the direct or indirect control of Lawrence
J. Ellison, Michael R. Milken and Lowell J. Milken. After our formation, ownership of our common stock
originally held by our founding entities was transferred to Nextera Enterprises Holdings. Lawrence J. Ellison,
Michael R. Milken and Lowell J. Milken may each be deemed to have the power to control Knowledge
Universe, Inc. As a result, Lawrence J. Ellison, Michael R. Milken and Lowell J. Milken may each be deemed
to have the power to direct the voting and disposition of, and to share beneficial ownership of, any shares of
common stock owned by Nextera Enterprises Holdings. On February 24, 1998, without admitting or denying
any liability, Michael R. Milken consented to the entry of a final judgment in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of New York in Securities and Exchange Commission v. Michael R. Milken et al., which
judgment was entered on February 26, 1998, restraining and enjoining Michael R. Milken from associating
with any broker, dealer, investment advisor, investment company, or municipal securities dealer and from
violating Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act.

Our quarterly revenues and operating results have varied significantly and, if they continue to do so, the
market price of our stock could decline.

Our operating results have varied significantly from quarter to quarter and may continue to do so in the
future. Cur gquarterly financial results could be impacted significantly by the timing, mix and number of active
client projects commenced and completed during a quarter, the variations in utilization rates and average
billing rates for our consultants and the accuracy of our estimates of resources required to complete our
ongoing projects. OQur operating expenses are based on anticipated revenue levels in the short-term, are
relatively fixed, and are incurred throughout the quarter. As a result, if expected revenues are not realized as
anticipated, our quarterly financial results could be materially harmed. As a result, we believe that period-to-
period comparisons of our operating results are not necessarily meaningful, and you should not rely on them as
an indication of our future performance.

Our engagemenis may result in professional liability.

Qur services typically involve difficult analytical assignments and carry risks of professional and other
liability. Many of our engagements involve matters that could have a severe impact on the client’s business,
cause the client to lose significant amounts of money, or prevent the client from pursuing desirable business
opportunities. Accordingly, if a client is dissatisfied with our performance, the client could threaten or bring
litigation in order to recover damages or to contest its obligation to pay our fees. Litigation alleging that we
performed negligently or otherwise breached our obligations to the client could expose us to significant
liabilities and tarnish our reputation. These liabilities could harm our business.

We have a history of losses.

Since our inception in February 1997, we have incurred, on an historical basis, net losses of $3.0 million
and $17.2 million for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1998, net income of $3.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999 and net losses of $24.0 million and $117.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2000 and 2001.

As a tesult, even though Lexecon has a history of profitability since being acquired by Nextera
Enterprises, it is possible that we may not obtain net income in the future.




We may not be able to obtain the additional capital necessary for us to carry out our business strategy,
which could hinder our growth. In addition, the terms of any additional capital may be unfavorable to us
or our stockholders.

For us to expand or to pursue other business opportunities, we would likely require access to capital. We
may require additional financing in amounts that we cannot determine at this time. If our plans or assumptions
change or are inaccurate, we may be required to seek capital sooner than anticipated. We may need to raise
funds through public or private debt or equity financings.

If funds are raised through the issuance of equity securities, the percentage ownership of our then-current
stockholders may be reduced and the holders of new equity securities may have rights, preferences or
privileges senior to those of the holders of our common stock. If additional funds are raised through a bank
credit facility or the issuance of debt securities, the holder of this indebtedness would have rights senior to the
rights of the holders of our common stock and the terms of this indebtedness could impose restrictions on our
operations. If we need to raise additional funds, we may not be able to do so on terms favorable to us, or at all.
If we cannot raise adequate funds on acceptable terms, we may be unable to continue to fund our operations.

Government regulation and legal uncertainty relating to our markets could result in decreased demand
Jfor our services, increased costs or otherwise harm our business causing a reduction in revenues.

For the year ended December 31, 2001 we derived approximately 60% of our net revenues from economic
and litigation consulting services related to antitrust matters, regulatory matters, mergers and acquisitions and
other securities matters. On an ongoing basis, substantially all of our net revenues will be derived from such
services. A substantial portion of these net revenues were derived from engagements relating to United States
antitrust and securities laws. Changes in these laws, changes in judicial interpretations of these laws or less
vigorous enforcement of these laws by the United States Department of Justice, the United States Federal
Trade Commission or other federal agencies as a result of changes in philosophy, political decisions, priorities
or other reasons could materially reduce the magnitude, scope, number or duration of engagements available
to us in these areas.

In addition, adverse changes in general economic conditions or conditions influencing merger and
acquisition activity could have an adverse impact on engagements in which we assist clients in connection with
these types of transactions. Any reductions in the number of our securities, antitrust and mergers and
acquisitions consulting engagements could cause a reduction in our revenues,

If a large client project or a significant number of other client projects ave tevminated or reduced, we
may have a large number of employees who are not generating revenue.

Our clients engage us on a project-by-project basis, primarily without a written contract, and a client can
generally terminate an engagement with littie or no notice to us and without penalty. When a client defers,
modifies or cancels a project, we must be able to rapidly deploy our consultants to other projects in order to
minimize the underutilization of our employees. In addition, our operating expenses are relatively fixed and
cannot be reduced on short notice to compensate for unanticipated variations in the number or size of projects
in progress. Thus, any termination, significant reduction or modification of our business relationships with any
of our significant clients or with a number of smaller clients would have an adverse impact on our ability to
generate revenue. As a result, we believe that the number of our clients or the number and size of our existing
projects may not be reliable indicators or measures of future net revenues.

Potential conflicts of interests reduce the number of both potential clients and engagements.

We provide economic and litigation consulting services primarily in connection with significant or
complex transactions, disputes or other matters that are usually adversarial or that involve sensitive client
information. Our engagement by a client to provide such services frequently precludes us from accepting
engagements with other entities involved in the same matter. In addition, we may decide to decline
engagements due to clients’ expectations of loyalty, perceived conflicts of interests or other reasons.
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Accordingly, the number of both potential clients and potential engagements is limited, particularly in the
economic consulting and litigation services markets.

Potential write-off of goodwill and other intangible assets relating to personnel could reduce our
operating results.

As of December 31, 2001, our intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, were approximately
$77.5 million. Intangible assets at December 31, 2001, net of accumulated amortization, included $77.0 mil-
lion of goodwill and $0.5 million for intangibles relating to personnel. Intangible assets had been amortized by
us on a straight-line basis principally over 40 years for goodwill and over five years for intangibles relating to
personnel. We will cease to amortize goodwill and intangible assets relating to personnel commencing
January 1, 2002 in accordance with Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.

In accordance with accounting guidelines, we periodically evaluate the recoverability of goodwill when
indications of possible impairment are present by reviewing the anticipated undiscounted future cash flows
from operations and comparing such cash flows to the carrying value of the associated goodwill. If goodwill
becomes impaired, we will be required to write down the carrying value of the goodwill and incur a related
charge to our operations. A write down of goodwill would resuit in a reduction in our net income.

QOur stock price may be volatile and you could lose all or part of your investinent.

We expect that the market price of our common stock will be volatile. Stock prices in our and similar
industries have risen and fallen in response to a variety of factors, including:

o quarter-to-quarter variations in operating results;

° entering into, or failing to enter into or renew, a material contract or order;

o acquisitions of, or strategic alliances among, companies within our industry;

o changes in investor perceptions of the acceptance or profitability of consulting; and
> market conditions in the industry and the economy as a whole.

The market price for our common stock may also be affected by our ability to meet investors’ or securities
analysts’ expectations. Any failure to meet these expectations, even slightly, may result in a material decline in
the market price of our common stock. In addition, the stock market is subject to extreme price and volume
fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant effect on the market prices of securities issued by many
companies for reasons unrelated to the operating performance of these companies. In the past, following
periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often
been instituted against that company. If similar litigation were instituted against us, it could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.

We could lose money on our fixed-price or capped-fee contracts.

We have undertaken and expect in the future to undertake certain projects under fixed-price or capped-
fee billing arrangements, which are distinguishable from our principal method of utilizing time and materials
billing arrangements. To achieve profitability from fixed-price or capped-fee contracts, we must, among other
things:

o accurately estimate the resources required to perform these contracts;
o complete our clients’ projects on a timely basis;
o effectively manage our clients’ expectations; and

> complete the projects within budget and to our clients’ satisfaction.
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If we are unable to accomplish these goals, we could be exposed to cost overruns and penalties. If this
occurs in connection with a large project or a sufficient number of projects, our revenues would decline.

Provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law may delay or prevent an acquisition of us, which
could decrease the value of our common stock.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and provisions of Delaware law could delay, defer
or prevent an acquisition or change of control of us or otherwise decrease the price of our common stock.
These provisions include:

o authorizing our board of directors to issue additional preferred stock;
o prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;
o limiting the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders;
o prohibiting stockholder actions by written consent; and
o establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in Boston, Massachusetts in a leased facility consisting of
28,646 square feet, under a 10-year lease that expires in April 2011. We also occupy leased office space in
Chicago, Illinois and Cambridge, Massachusetts. We have space in New York, New York; San Francisco,
California; Rochester, New York, and Toronto, Canada, for which we are either subletting or attempting to
sublet. Effective January 30, 2002, we assigned our lease obligations in Los Angeles, California; Raleigh,
North Carolina; and Princeton, New Jersey to the acquiring company of the Sibson business. We believe that
our existing facilities are adequate to meet our current requirements and that suitable space will be available
as needed on terms acceptable to us.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are involved in legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary
course of business, the outcome of which, in the opinion of management, would not have a material adverse
effect on us.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders during the year ended December 31, 2001.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our Class A Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share, has traded on the Nasdaq National Market
under the symbol “NXRA” since May 18, 1999. The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices for
our Class A Common Stock as reported by the Nasdaq National Market in each of the four quarters of fiscal
2001 and 2000.

Period High  Low
Calendar year — 2001
First Quarter. . .. ... $2.25 $0.59
Second QUaMt T L.t i e e $i.11  $0.45
Third QUAaTter . . ..o e $0.61  $0.12
Fourth Quarter . .. ... . $0.50 $0.13




High Low
Calendar year — 2000

FIrst QUarter. . .ottt $13.62 $7.00
Second Quarter .............. O $ 794 $3.75
Third QUarter . . . ot e e $ 575 $2.88
Fourth Quarter. .. ... .. $ 3.38 $0.47

As of March 22, 2002 there were 31,885,896 shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding held by
approximately 279 holders of record.

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our Common Stock and do not intend to pay
dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future. We intend to retain any earnings for use in the
operation and expansion of our business.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following tables contain selected consolidated financial data as of December 31 for each of the years
1997 (February 26, 1997 inception} through 2001 and for each of the years in the five year period ended
December 31, 2001. The selected consolidated financial data have been derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements.

When you read this summary, it is important that you read along with it the financial statements and
related notes in our annual and quarterly reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as well
as the section of our annual and quarterly reports titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”

Period from
February 26, 1997
(Date of Inception)

Through
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data:
Netrevenues .................. $ 122,276  $161,000 $155,955 $ 67,590 $ 7,998
Cost of revenues ............... 76,910 98,394 87,835 44,985 4,718
Grossprofit.................. 45,366 62,606 68,120 22,605 3,280
Selling, general and Administrative
EXPENSES « v vv vt 43,729 61,066 44,975 23,103 5,306
Amortization expense ........... 4,758 5,436 4,723 1,722 255
Goodwill Impairment ........... 72,538 — — — —
Special charges. ................ 23,534 8,162 7,405 7,969 —
Income (loss) from Operations . .. (99,193) (12,058) 11,017 (10,189) (2,281)
Interest income (expense), Net. .. (10,128) (7,773) (8,836) (6,723) (32)
Other income (expense), Net . ... (7,148) (5,432) — — —
Income (loss) before Income taxes (116,469) (25,263) 2,181 (16,912) (2,313)
Provision (benefit) for Income
TAXES ot 1,054 (1,291) (884) 243 702
Net income (loss) .............. $(117,523) $(23,972) $ 3,065 $(17,155) $(3,015)
Preferred Stock Dividends ... . ... (1,846) (98) — — —
Net Income (loss) applicable to
common stockholders ......... $(119,369) $(24,070) $ 3,065 $(17,155) $(3,015)
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Period from
February 26, 1997
(Date of Inception)

Through
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands, except per share data)
Net income (loss) per common
share, basic.................. (3.41) (0.69) 0.10 (1.14) (0.74)
Net income (loss) per common
share, diluted ................ (3.41) (0.69) 0.10 (1.14) (0.74)
Weighted Average common shares
outstanding, basic............. 35,034 35,121 29,990 14,997 4,061
Weighted Average common shares
outstanding, diluted ........... 35,034 35,121 30,441 14,997 4,061

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents............ $ 4,465 $ 4322 $ 7,011 $ 1,496 $ 554
Working capital (deficit)............. (5,140) 11,474 33,035 (62,399) (335)
Total assets .......... ... .......... 121,182 234,102 226,762 176,691 22,655
Total short-term debt and capital lease

obligations ....................... 17,118 13,962 938 82,487 1,833
Total long-term debt and capital lease

obligations ......... ... ... ... ..., 48,245 52,468 56,798 55,749 969
Total stockholders’ equity ............ 25,499 141,977 146,057 14,852 16,732

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

During 2001, the Company enacted a restructuring plan to exit the technology consulting business and
human capital consulting business and to focus on the strength of its economic consulting business. The
technology consulting business was completely exited in the second half of 2001, primarily through the
termination of consultants upon the completion of existing contracts and, to a lesser extent, the assignment of
contracts and the workforce associated with those contracts to a third party. The human capital consulting
business was sold to a third party on January 30, 2002. Upon the disposition of the human capital consulting
business, the Company consists of Lexecon, one of the world’s preeminent economics consulting firms.

The Company generates net revenues by providing economic consulting services primarily under time and
materials (including charges for use of its computer system), and to a much lesser extent, fixed-price or
capped-fee billing arrangements. Under time and materials billing arrangements, revenues are recognized as
the services are performed. Revenues on fixed-price and capped-fee contracts are recognized using the
percentage of completion method of accounting and are adjusted monthly for the cumulative impact of any
revision in estimates. We determine the percentage of completion of our contracts by comparing costs incurred
to date to total estimated costs. Contract costs include direct labor and expenses related to performance of the
contract. We believe that the majority of our work will continue to be performed under time and materials
billing arrangements. Net revenues exclude reimbursable expenses charged to clients, however, due to recently
issued accounting guidance, reimbursable expenses will be included in net revenues effective January 1, 2002.
We typically bill on a monthly basis to monitor client satisfaction and manage our outstanding accounts
receivable balances. OQur net revenues are substantially derived from clients located in the United States.

Gross profit is derived from net revenues less the cost of revenues, which includes salaries, bonuses and
benefits paid to consultants. Our financial performance is primarily based upon billing margin (billable daily
rate less the consultant’s daily cost) and personnel utilization rates (billable days divided by paid days). We
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monitor our engagements to manage billing and utilization rates. We derive a substantial majority of our net
revenues from engagements billed on a time and materials basis. Generally, clients are billed for expenses
incurred by us on the clients’ behalf. In addition, we closely monitor and attempt to control expenses that are
not passed through to our clients. Incentive compensation expenses paid to consultants have a large variable
component relating to net revenues and profit and, therefore, vary based upon our ability to achieve our
operating objectives.

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of salaries and benefits of certain senior management
and other administrative personnel and training, marketing and promotional costs. These expenses are
associated with our development of new business and with our management, finance, recruiting, marketing
and administrative activities. Incentive compensation expenses for certain senior management also have a
significant variable component relating to net revenues and profit and, therefore, vary based upon our ability to
achieve our operating objectives,

Our tax provisions historically vary from the federal statutory rate of 34% predominately due to valuation
allowance adjustments, nondeductible goodwill amortization, state and local taxes and nondeductible meal
expenses.

Sale of Human Capital Consulting Business

Effective January 30, 2002, the Company sold substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of its
human capital consulting business to a privately-held benefits, compensation and human resources consulting
firm, for a total of $14.7 million in cash (excluding $1.3 million subject to a working capital adjustment) and
the potential for up to an additional $13.3 million based on future operating results over the next two years. All
consultants and support staff of the human capital consulting business were transferred to the acquiring
company. The net assets sold, including unimpaired goodwill, have been classified in the balance sheet at
December 31, 2001 as Assets held for sale.

The human capital consulting business had revenues of $37.8 million, $58.9 million, and $63.3 million for
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Income (loss) from operations of the human capital consulting group was
$(50.1) million, $0.1 million, and $3.4 million for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Approximately
$40.5 million of the 2001 loss was due to goodwill impairment charges.

Exiting of the Technology Consulting Business

During 2001, with the erosion of the demand for technology services, the technology consulting business
was substantially reduced primarily through workforce reduction. Effective October 1, 2001, the Company
assigned the remaining significant technology contracts to a third party which also assumed the workforce
associated with those contracts. With this assignment, the Company effectively exited the technology
consulting business and as of December 31, 2001 had no contracts or consultants related to this business.

The technology consulting business had revenues of $11.6 million, $41.2 million, and $49.3 million for
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Income (loss) from operations of the technology consulting group was
$(51.2) million, $(24.1) million, and $1.7 million for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Approximately
$32.0 million of the 2001 loss was due to goodwill impairment charges.

Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock

On December 14, 2000, the Company entered into a Note Conversion Agreement with Knowledge
Universe, Inc. (the Note Conversion Agreement). Under the terms of the Note Conversion Agreement,
Knowledge Universe, Inc. converted $21,000,000 of debentures into 210,000 shares of $0.001 par value
Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (Series A Preferred Stock). The Series A Preferred Stock
bears dividends at a 10% rate from issuance through June 30, 2001 and at a 7% rate thereafter. Such dividends
are payable quarterly in arrears in cash or, at the option of the Company, in additional nonassessable shares of
Series A Preferred Stock.
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For the period through June 30, 2001, the Company could, at its option, exchange the Series A Preferred
Stock into a debenture (the Exchange Debenture) with equivalent terms as those contained in the debentures
exchanged for the Series A Preferred Stock on December 14, 2000. Solely for purposes of determining the
principal amount of the Exchange Debenture, in the event of such an exchange, the Series A Preferred Stock
will be deemed to have accrued dividends at a rate equal to 12%, retroactive to December 14, 2000.

On June 29, 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the exchange of the Series A Preferred
Stock to the Exchange Debenture subject to the approval of the Lenders under the Senior Credit Facility.
Knowledge Universe, Inc. has agreed to allow the Company to extend its right to exchange the Series A
Preferred Stock into the Exchange Debenture until June 15, 2002. If converted, Stockholders equity would
decrease by $22.9 million and Debentures due to affiliates would increase by approximately $23.5 million. The
Debentures would accrue interest at 10% and would be due on January 2, 2004. Principal and interest amounts
due under the Debentures would be subordinated to borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility.

Nasdaq Listing

There are several requirements for the continued listing of the Company’s Class A Common Stock on the
Nasdaq National Market including, but not limited to, a minimum stock price of one dollar per share. On
February 14, 2002, the Company received notification from the Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”) that the
Company had failed to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 for 30 consecutive days and will be delisted
from the Nasdaq National Market unless by May 15, 2002 the Company can comply with the minimum bid
price requirement for at least 10 consecutive days. If Nasdaq decides to delist the Class A Common Stack, the
Company would have the right to appeal this decision, however, there can be no assurances that such an
appeal would be successful. If a decision to delist the Company’s Class A Common Stock is made, the
Company may apply for listing on the Nasdaq Smallcap Market, subject to Nasdaq’s approval. The listing
requirements for the Nasdaq Smallcap Market also include a $1.00 minimum bid price requirement, subject
to designated grace periods. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that the Company could obtain or maintain a
listing on the Nasdaq Smallcap Market. Delisting from the Nasdaq National Market could adversely affect
the liquidity and price of the Class A Common Stock and it could have a long-term impact on the Company’s
ability to raise future capital.

Acquisitions

The Company was founded in February 1997 and focused on building its portfolio of practice areas
primarily through selective acquisitions through December 31, 1998 and, to a lesser extent, internal growth.
The Company pursued an acquisition strategy resulting in the acquisitions detailed below. Accordingly, our
historical Consolidated Financial Statements include operating results of the acquired companies only from
the effective date of each respective acquisition.

2000 Acquisition

Effective January 1, 2000, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of
Cambridge Economics, Inc. (“Cambridge Economics™), a Massachusetts-based consulting firm that provides
strategic, economic and business transformation and other services to a diverse group of domestic and
international clients. Cambridge Economics was acquired for $8.4 million of cash and a $2.1 million
promissory note due January 2002 which has been paid.

1999 Acquisitions

Effective September 30, 1999, the Company, through Sibson AP, LLC, a newly formed acquisition
subsidiary of the Company, acquired substantially all of the assets of SCCAP Pty Limited (“SCCAP”), an
Australian human resources consulting firm, for $1.7 million in cash.

Effective June 1, 1999, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of The
Economics Resource Group, Inc. (“ERG”), a Massachusetts-based consulting firm that provides economic
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and strategic services primarily to energy and other regulated industries. ERG was acquired for $9.6 million of
cash and a $2.4 million promissory note that was paid in 2001.

Effective May 18, 1999, the Company acquired NeoEnterprises, Inc. (“NeoEnterprises”), a Connecti-
cut-based electronic commerce, or “e-commerce,” consulting and development company. NeoEnterprises was
acquired for 170,000 shares of Class A Common Stock.

Effective January 29, 1999, the Company acquired the stock of The Alexander Corporation Limited
(“Alexander”), a United Kingdom-based human resources consulting firm. Alexander was acquired for
£360,000 (approximately $590,000) and 150,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, including the payment of
£60,000 (approximately $100,000) in final satisfaction of amounts payable under an earnout arrangement.

1998 Acquisitions

Effective December 31, 1998, the Company acquired Lexecon Inc. (“Lexecon”), an Illinois-based
economic consulting firm. Lexecon was acquired for $31.1 million in cash and 4,266,240 shares of Class A
Common Stock, including 1,450,240 shares of Class A Common Stock which were determined based upon
the price per share in the initial public offering of the Company’s Class A common stock.

Effective August 31, 1998, Nextera acquired substantially all the assets and assumed certain liabilities of
Sibson & Company, L.P. and acquired Sibson Canada, Inc., (collectively “Sibson”) human resources
consulting firms based in New Jersey and Toronto, Canada, respectively. Sibson was acquired for $37.4 mil-
lon in cash, 2,613,087 shares of Class A Common Stock and 197,813 exchangeable shares of Sibson Canada
Co., a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of Nextera, that may be converted at the option of the holders
into 197,813 shares of Class A Common Stock. The shares were converted in 2000.

Effective March 31, 1998, Nextera acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities
of The Planning Technologies Group, Inc. (“PTG”), a Massachusetts-based strategy and management
consulting firm. PTG was acquired for $6.7 million in cash and 214,000 shares of Class A Common Stock.

Effective March 31, 1998, Nextera acquired Pyramid Imaging, Inc. (“Pyramid”), a California-based
consulting and technology firm. Pyramid was acquired for $10.0 million in cash and 640,000 shares of Class A
Common Stock, including $0.8 million in cash and 53,333 shares of Class A Common Stock issued during
1999 as a result of the achievement of certain revenue and pretax earnings targets related to the performance
of Pyramid during the twelve months ended March 31, 1999.

Effective January 5, 1998, Nextera acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities
of SiIGMA Consulting, LLC (“SiGMA”), a New York-based management consulting firm. SIGMA was
acquired for $10.0 million in cash and 669,000 shares of Class A Common Stock.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the year ended December 31:

2001 2000 1999
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent
(Dollars in thousands) )
Net reVenuesS. ..ottt $ 122,276 100% $161,000 100%  $155,955 100%
Costof revenues. .................... 76,910 63 98,394 61 87,835 56
Grossprofit.................. . ...... 45,366 37 62,606 39 68,120 44
Selling, general and administrative
EXPENSES + v v v ei e 43,729 36 61,066 38 44,975 29
Amortization expense ................ 4,758 4 5,436 4 4,723 3
Goodwill Impairment ................ 72,538 59 — — — —
Special charges...................... 23,534 19 8,162 5 7,405 5
Income (loss) from operations......... (99,193)  (81) (12,058) (8) 11,017 7
Interest expense, net ................. (10,128) (8) (7,773) (%) (8.836) (6)
Other income (expense) .............. (7,148)  (6) (5,432) Q) — =
Income (loss) before income taxes .. ... (116,469)  (95) (25,263)  (16) 2,181 1
Provision (benefit) for income taxes . ... 1,054 1 (1,291) () (884 (1)
Net income (loss) ................... $(117,523)  (96)% $(23,972) (15)% $ 3,065 2%

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2001 and the Year Ended December 31, 2000

Net Revenues. Net revenues decreased 24.1% to $122.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001
from $161.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This decrease was attributable to a decrease in
technology and human capital consulting revenues which declined $29.6 million and $21.1 million, respec-
tively, due to decreased demand for such services. The decline in technology and human capital revenues were
partially offset by a $12.0 million increase in economic consulting revenues. With the sale of the human
capital consulting business and the exiting of the technology consulting business, the Company’s net revenues
for 2002 are expected to decrease although revenues for the remaining economic consulting business are
expected to increase from 2001.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit decreased 27.5% to $45.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from
$62.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Gross profit as a percentage of net revenues decreased to
37.1% in 2001 from 38.9% in 2000. The decrease in gross profit directly correlates with the 24.1% decline in
net revenues in 2001 from 2000. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of net revenues was due primarily
to the wind down and eventual exiting of the technology consulting business and due to higher compensation
cost related to the economic consulting business.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased
28.3% to $43.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $61.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. As a percentage of net revenues, such expenses decreased to 35.8% in 2001 from 38.0% in
2000. The decrease in spending resulted primarily from $6.8 million in lower sales and marketing spending,
$4.5 million in lower general office expenses, $2.7 million in lower support staff compensation, and $2.9 million
in lower spending in development, primarily recruiting. Substantially all of the above reductions were made in
the technology and human capital consulting business in connection with the exiting of the technology
consulting business and cost reductions in the human capital business due to the decline in the demand for
such services.

Goodwill Impairment. During 2001, the Company recorded a $72.5 million goodwill impairment
charge. The technology consulting services goodwill charge was $32.0 million due to the exiting of the
technology consulting business and the human capital consulting business charge was $40.5 million due to the
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decline in the value of the business directly related to the downturn in the economy. The impairment of the
human capital services business was based on the sale price of the business excluding any contingent
consideration that may be achieved in the future based on the performance of the human capital consulting
business.

Special Charges. During the quarter ended March 31, 2001, the Company approved actions to re-align
and re-size the Company’s cost structure, primarily within the technology consulting services group, as a result
of softening market conditions and reduced demand for technological services. As a result, the Company
recorded special charges totaling $5.4 million, consisting of $1.6 million for severance, $0.6 million for the
termination of certain Company initiatives, $0.8 million related to the costs of exiting or reducing certain
leased premises, and $2.4 million related to certain employee incentives. The headcount reductions included
48 consultants and 7 administrative personnel.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2001, the Company recorded special charges to re-align and re-size
the Company’s cost structure. As a result, the Company recorded charges totaling $8.0 million, consisting of a
$1.8 million severance charge associated with the second quarter’s headcount reduction of 60 professional and
support personnel, primarily in the technology consulting business; a $5.1 million charge to provide for the
expected costs of exiting or reducing certain leased premises and an employee incentive-related expense of
$1.1 million.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2001, the Company recorded $8.8 million of special charges for
continued restructuring efforts. Included within this charge is $1.1 million of severance associated with
headcount reductions in the quarter, $3.5 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing
certain leased premises, a $4.0 million write-down of assets, substantially fixed assets, and an employee
incentive-related expense of $0.2 million.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded $1.3 million of special charges.
Included within this charge is $0.5 million of severance associated with headcount reductions in the quarter,
$0.3 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing certain leased premises, and a
$0.5 million write-down of assets, substantially fixed assets.

Cash outlays during 2001 under the Company’s various restructuring efforts were $13.8 million.
Approximately $1.7 million of cash is expected to be expended over the next twelve months, primarily related
to real estate rental obligations and severance, and the remainder is expected to be paid over the next ten
years.

The restructuring charges and their utilization as of December 30, 2001 are summarized as follows (in
thousands):

Balance at e Balance at
December 31, QI1-2001 Q2-2001 3-2001 Q4-2001 Utilized Accrual  December 31,
2000 Charge  Charge  Charge  Charge Non-Cash Cash Adjustment 2001

Severance ............ $1,301 $1,574 $1,834 $1,072 $ 465 $§ — $ (5,562) $(429) $ 255
Facilities ............. 1,056 97 4,537 3,554 300 — (3,365) (600) 5,579
Employee Special

Incentives .......... 1,736 2,378 1,090 180 —  (1,143)  (4,24]) — —
Fixed Assets and other

asset write-downs . . .. 377 755 584 3,998 511 (6,517) — 600 308
Other................ — 605 — — — — (605) — —

$4,470 $5,409 $8,045 $8,804 $1,276 $(7,660) $(13,773) $(429) $6,142

In the fourth quarter 2000, the Company awarded to certain employees special incentive-related
compensation awards. Such awards totaled $6.7 million and were payable in cash and restricted stock during
2001, subject to employees remaining employed by the Company on the dates of the payments. The Company
recorded a special charge of $2.3 million in 2000 associated with the pro rata share of such payments over the
associated vesting period.
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In October and December 2000, the Company implemented a plan to reduce its consulting and
administrative staffs, resulting in severance costs of approximately $2.4 million. Approximately $1.7 million of
this charge was paid in the fourth quarter of 2000 and the remainder of the accrual was paid in the first quarter
of 2001. In total, 108 consultants and administrative personnel were terminated. In June 2000, the Company
recorded a charge of $1.9 million as a result of severance costs incurred for seven individuals in connection
with management changes at the Company’s Technologies Services Group. Approximately $1.2 million of this
charge was paid in 2000 and the remainder is expected to be paid ratably through January of 2002. As of
December 31, 2000, approximately $1.3 million was accrued.

Primarily as a result of the fourth quarter workforce reduction described above, the Company identified
and made plans to vacate certain portions of its leased facilities. The Company recorded a charge of
$1.5 million associated with the cost of exiting these facilities, net of estimated sublease income, all of which
was accrued as of December 31, 2000.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased 29.5% to $10.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase was primarily due to fees
associated with the March 30, 2001 amendment to the Senior Credit Facility coupled with a higher average
bank debt during 2001.

Other Expense. Other expense increased by 31.6% to $7.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The 2001 charges were associated with the
write down to fair market value of certain investments. The 2000 charges also related to a write down to fair
market value of certain investments. The write-downs were substantially related to the downturn in the
technology sector that began in the middle of 2000 and continued into 2001. As the downturn progressed, the
valuation of the Company’s equity investments were reviewed and the investments were written down to fair
value when they were judged to be permanently impaired.

Income Taxes. The Company recorded an income tax expense of $1.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared to a tax benefit of $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The 2001
expense related to foreign and states taxes and an adjustment to the prior year tax accrual. The 2000 benefit
related to the ability to carryback the 2000 loss to prior years. Valuation allowances have been established at
December 31, 2001 and 2000 relating to all deferred tax assets that must be realized through the generation of
taxable income in future periods.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2000 and the Year Ended December 31, 1999

Net Revenues. WNet revenues increased 3.2% to $161.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2000
from $156.0 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily attributable to an
increase in economic consulting revenues, due in part to the inclusion of revenues relating to the acquisition of
ERG effective June 30, 1999 and Cambridge Economics effective January 1, 2000. Offsetting this increase
was a decrease in revenues primarily from the Company’s technology consulting business due principally to an
industry-wide decrease in demand for such services during the second half of 2000 and, to a lesser extent, a
decrease in revenues in our human capital consulting business.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit decreased 8.1% to $62.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from
$68.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. Gross profit as a percentage of net revenues decreased to
38.9% in 2000 from 43.7% in -1999. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of net revenues was due
primarily to lower chargeability in the Company’s technology consulting business. As a result of the decreased
demand for technology services, the Company reduced its workforce by 100 consultants in the fourth quarter
of 2000, most of whom work within the technology consulting business group. Annualized cost savings
resulting from the workforce reduction actions is anticipated to be approximately $16.5 million.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased
35.8% to $61.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $45.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999. As a percentage of revenues, such expenses increased to 38.0% in 2000 from 28.8% in
1999. The increase in spending resulted primarily from higher sales and marketing spending and an increase in
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reserves for bad debts in the Company’s technology consulting business. As a result of the decreased demand
for technology services, the Company reduced its workforce principally in this sector by 32 administrative
personnel in the fourth quarter of 2000. The increase in selling general and administrative expenses also
resulted in part from the acquisitions of ERG and Cambridge Economics.

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased to $7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2000
from $9.4 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 due principally to the repayment of a portion of the
Company’s outstanding indebtedness with the proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering of Class A
Common Stock, which was completed on May 21, 1999. Offsetting this reduction in borrowings and interest
expense were borrowings and expense incurred in connection with the acquisitions of ERG and Cambridge
Economics and with working capital requirements.

Other Expense. Other expense for 2000 includes a $5.4 million non-cash charge associated with the
write down to fair market value of certain equity investments.

Special Charges. In the fourth quarter 2000, the Company awarded to certain employees special
incentive-related compensation awards. Such awards totaled $6.7 million and were paid in cash and restricted
stock during 2001, subject to employees remaining employed by the Company on the dates of the payments.
The Company recorded a special charge of $2.3 million in 2000 associated with the pro rata share of such
payments over the associated vesting period.

In October and December 2000, the Company implemented a plan to reduce its consulting and
administrative staffs, resulting in severance costs of approximately $2.4 million. Approximately $1.8 million of
this charge was paid in the fourth quarter of 2000 and the remainder of the charge was paid in the first quarter
of 2001. In June 2000, the Company recorded a charge of $1.9 million as a result of severance costs incurred
in connection with management changes at the Company’s technologies consulting business. Approximately
$1.2 million of this charge was paid in 2000 and the remainder was paid in 2001.

Primarily as a result of the fourth quarter workforce reduction described above, the Company identified
and made plans to vacate certain portions of leased facilities. The Company recorded a charge of $1.5 million
associated with the cost of exiting these facilities.

The Company granted to certain non-employee consultants options to purchase 445,245 of its Class A
Common Stock at an exercise price of $14.00 per share in 1999. Such options were fully-vested upon grant.
The Company recorded a non-cash compensation expense of $4.4 million, which represented the estimated
fair value of the options calculated using the Black-Scholes model.

The Company recorded a non-cash compensation expense of $1.7 million, principally representing the
difference between the fair value of 197,760 fully-vested options granted in 1999 to certain non-stockholder
employees on the date of grant of $10.00 per share and the $1.50 exercise price of the options. Such options
were granted in final satisfaction of an agreement entered into in December 1998 under which payments
totaling $4.2 million in cash and fully-vested options to purchase 384,000 of Class A Common Stock at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share were granted during 1998.

In November 1999, in connection with a change in senior management, the Company implemented a
plan to reduce its administrative staff, resulting in severance costs of approximately $1.3 million.

Income Taxes. The Company recorded an income tax benefit of $1.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. Valuation allowances have been established during 2000 relating to all deferred tax assets
that must be realized through the generation of taxable income in future periods.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Consolidated working capital was a negative $5.1 million on December 31, 2001, compared with working
capital of $11.5 million on December 31, 2000. Included in working capital were cash and cash equivalents of
$4.5 million and $4.3 million on December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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Net cash provided by operating activities was $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The
primary components of net cash provided by operating activities were a net loss of $117.5 million substantially
offset by non-cash charges of $102.0 million (including a goodwill impairment charge of $72.5 million,
investment write-downs of $7.1 million, depreciation and amortization of $9.4 million, and other asset write-
downs, primarily fixed assets, of $6.2 million), a $9.1 million decrease in accounts receivable, a $7.3 million
increase in accounts payable, and a $4.5 million decrease in income tax receivable.

Net cash used in investing activities was $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The
component of cash used in investing activities was $3.2 million for furniture, equipment and leasehold
improvements.

Net cash used in financing activities was $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The primary
components of cash used in financing activities were $7.6 million of repayments on the senior credit facility,
$3.1 million of cash payments for other debt and capital lease obligations, offset by $7.5 million of cash
received from an affiliate of Knowledge Universe in exchange for debentures.

The Company’s primary sources of liquidity are cash on hand, cash flow from operations, and the sale of
the human capital consulting business which was consummated on January 30, 2002 and resulted in
approximately $14.7 million of proceeds (excluding 1.3 million subject to a working capital adjustment),
$8.0 million of which was used to reduce the Senior Credit Facility and $8.0 million which was used for
working capital needs. The Company believes that the available capacity from these sources will be sufficient
to meet its operating and capital requirements for the next twelve months. However, there can be no
assurances the Company’s actual cash needs will not exceed anticipated levels, the Company will generate
sufficient operating cash flows to fund its operations in the absence of other sources or acquisition
opportunities will not arise requiring resources in excess of those currently available.

Effective March 29, 2002, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
(Senior Credit Facility) with the Senior Lenders. Under the new agreement, the Company agreed to
permanently reduce the borrowings outstanding under the facility by $6.5 million in 2002 and by $8.0 million
in 2003. The amended Senior Credit Facility matures on January 2, 2004. Borrowings under the facility will
bear interest at the lender’s base rate plus 2.0%, with the potential for the borrowing rate to be reduced 100
basis points upon achieving certain financial and operational milestones. In connection with the amended
Senior Credit Facility, the Company will pay a $0.9 million fee to the Senior Lenders over the next two years
and will issue the Senior Lenders additional warrants to purchase 400,000 shares of the Company’s Class A
Commeon Stock at an exercise price of $0.60 per share, exercisable at the Senior Lenders’ sole discretion at
any time prior to 18 months after payment in full of all of the Company’s obligations due under the amended
Senior Credit Facility. The Senior Lenders can elect in their sole discretion to require the Company to redeem
the warrants for $0.2 million cash payment (except to the extent prohibited by a non-waiveable applicable law
or regulation). An affiliate of Knowledge Universe, an entity that indirectly controls Nextera, has agreed to
continue to guarantee $2.5 million of the Company’s obligations under the amended Senior Credit Facility.
The amended Senior Credit Facility contains covenants related to the maintenance of financial ratios,
operating restrictions, restrictions on the payment of dividends and disposition of assets. The revised covenants
were based on the Company’s operating plan for 2002 and 2003.
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The following summarizes the company’s significant contractual obligations and commitments that
impact its liquidity.

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 Years

(In thousands)
Senior Credit Facility ......... $38,428 $14,500(1)  $23,928 §$ — $ -
Debentures due to affiliates .... 23,093 — 23,093 — —
Long-term debt and capital

leases .................... 3,842 2,618 682 152 390
Operating leases ............. 32,948 4,828 7,872 6,762 13,486
Total contractual obligations ... $98,311 $21,946 $55,575 % 6914 $13,876
Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period
Total
Amounts

Other Commercial Commitments Committed Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years After S Years

(In thousands)
Standby letter of credit....... $974 $ — $974 $ — $ —

(1) The Senior Credit Facility payments due less than 1 year includes $8.0 million of debt payments made in
connection with the proceeds from the sale of Sibson and $6.5 million of debt amortization in 2002 in
accordance with the terms of the Senior Credit Facility.

The Senior Credit Facility, Debentures due to affiliates, long-term debt and capital leases, and operating
leases are explained in detail in notes 6, 8 and 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

New Accounting Standards

Refer to note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of new accounting
pronouncements and the potential impact to the Company’s consolidated results of operations and consoli-
dated financial position.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are
based upon the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements
requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, the
Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to restructuring charges, the realizability of
outstanding accounts receivable, deferred tax assets, debt covenants, and intangible assets. The Company
bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The Company has identified the following critical accounting policies, based on significant judgments and
estimates used in determining the amounts reported in its consolidated financial statements

Restructuring Charges. The Company has recorded significant restructuring charges over the past year
and as of December 31, 2001, has $6.1 million of restructuring reserves recorded on the balance sheet.
Substantially most of these reserves relate to the cost of exiting certain leased facilities. The reserves have
been estimated based on the remaining term of the leases and assumptions as to the Company’s ability to
sublease the space at current market rates or enact a buyout of the Company’s obligation. Should the
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Company be successful in exiting the lease obligations prior to their scheduled expiration date or if subleasing
assumptions change due to economic conditions in the real estate market, the restructuring reserves could vary
significantly.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The Company evaluates the collectibility of accounts receivable
based on a combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of circumstances regarding a specific
customer’s ability or intention 1o not meet its financial obligations to us, we record a specific reserve for bad
debts against amounts due to the Company to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount we
reasonably believe will be collected. For all other customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts based on a
three-year historical experience. If circumstances change, our estimates of the recoverability of amounts due
us could be reduced by a material amount.

Deferred Tax Assets. As of December 31, 2001, we have approximately $53 million of deferred tax
assets related principally to domestic loss carryforwards that expire in 2021, for which a 100% valuation
allowance has been recorded. The realization of these assets is based upon estimates of future taxable income.
Due to the Company’s three-year cumulative loss position, the Company is unable to recognize such assets as
of December 31, 2001 under generally accepted accounting principles. The valuation allowance will be
reviewed periodically to determine its appropriateness.

Debt Covenants. The Company’s debt agreements require the Company to maintain certain financial
ratios as discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. The covenants are measured quarterly
and have been set at varying rates, the most restrictive at approximately 10% below the Company’s projected
operating results. If the results of operations significantly decline below projected results and we are unable to
obtain a waiver from the Company’s Senior Lenders, the Company’s debt would be in default and callable by
the senior lenders. It is the Company’s belief that the results of operations will achieve projections for the year
ending December 31, 2002 and thereafter and the likelihood of our defaulting on our debt covenants is
unlikely, absent any material negative event affecting the U.S. economy as a whole. We also believe our
lenders would provide us waivers if necessary. However, our expectations of future operating results and
continued compliance with our debt covenants cannot be assured and our lenders’ actions are not controllable
by us. If our projections of future operating results are not achieved and our debt is placed in default, we would
experience a material adverse impact on our reported financial position and results of operations.

Intangible Assets. We have significant intangible assets related to goodwill and other acquired
intangibles. The determination of whether or not these assets are impaired involves significant judgments.
Changes in strategy and/or market conditions could significantly impact these judgments and require
adjustments to recorded asset balances.

Item TA. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates primarily from our Senior Credit Facility. We do not
currently use interest rate derivative instruments to manage exposure to interest rate changes. A hypothetical
100 basis point adverse move in interest rates along the interest rate yield curve would not have a material
adverse effect on interest sensitive financial instruments at December 31, 2001.

Foreign Currency Risk

Currently, the majority of the Company’s sales and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars and as a
result we have not experienced significant foreign exchange gains and losses to date. While the Company is
conducting some transactions in foreign currencies, no significant foreign exchange gains or losses are
anticipated. The Company has not engaged in foreign currency hedging activities to date.
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ltem 8. Financial Staetements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors
Nextera Enterprises, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. Cur
audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at [tem 14(a). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in
our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ ERNST & YoUuNG LLP

Providence, Rhode Island
February 7, 2002, except for Note 6, as to which the date
is March 29, 2002
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC,
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .. .. ... ... i e

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,976 and $2,551 at December 31, 2001
and 2000, respectively . ... oo
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings. . ... .. ...
Due from affiliates . . ... e e e e e
Due from officers . . oo e e
Income taxes receivable ... ... . e
Assets held for sale . ... . e e e
Prepaid expenses and other CUITENt aSSEIS ... ... . ot ittt e e
LS T Ly (< LA T LY - PP
Property and equipment, Net ... .. ..o i
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $6,225 and $12,136 at December 31, 2001 and 2000,
TS PECHIVELY - o L e e e
[0 34T o 111 £

TOtal ASSE S . L o Lottt

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued eXPenSES . . ... oot e
Accrued restructuring costs, CUTTENt POTLION. .. ..ottt ittt e e e
Notes payable to bank . ... ...
Senior credit facility . ... ...
Deferred TeVeIUE . . ..ot e
Debentures due to affiliates ... ... ..
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations ........... ... ..o iiiiiiiiiinn.
Total current Habilities . ... ... o e e
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations . ......... ... ... i
Senior credit facility . ... .. o e
Debentures due to affiliates, including at December 31, 2001 and 2000 accrued interest thereon .........
Accrued restructuring costs, net of Current portion ... ... ...t
Other long-term liabilities. . . . ... o o e

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, 600,000 authorized shares designated
Series A, 210,000 Series A shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000 ..........
Class A Common Stock, $0.001 par value, 95,000,000 shares authorized, 31,647,640 and
31,371,419 shares issued at December 31, 2001 and 2000 . ... ... ... . .
Class B Common Stock, $0.001 par value, zero, 4,300,000 shares authorized, 3,869,570 and
3,873,930 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000 . ............ ... ... ...

Treasury Stock, 228,303 and 301,400 shares Class A Common Stock at December 31, 2001 and 2000 . .
Additional paid-in capital .. ... ..
Retained earnings (deficit) .. ... . i
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10SS) .. ...ttt e
Total stockholders’ equity ... ... e

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equUItY . ... . ... o i e

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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December 31

2001

2000

(In thousands, except
share data)

$ 4465 $ 4322
19,526 36,890
— 422

65 610

— 30

— 4,350
11,509 —
895 2,803
36460 49,427
4,003 14,542
77,504 159,459
3,215 10,674

$ 121,182 $234,102
$ 22,697 $ 18,140
1,738 4,093

— 187
14,500 8,050
47 1,758

— 2,503

2,618 3222
41,600 37,953
1,224 3,516
23928 37972
23,093 10,980
4,404 377
1,434 1,327
22,944 21,098
32 31

4 4
(294) (947)
162,504 163,263
(158,600)  (41,077)
(1,091) (395)
25499 141,977

$ 121,182 $234,102
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31

2001 2000 1999

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
NEE TEVENUES . . . ottt et e e e e e e e $ 122,276  $161,000 $155,955
Cost Of TEVENMUES . ... it i e e 76,910 98,394 87,833
Gross Profit .. ..o 45,366 62,606 68,120
Selling, general and administrative expenses ...................... 43,729 61,066 44,975
AmOrtization EXPeNSE . .. oottt e 4,758 5,436 4,723
Goodwill Impairment ......... ... ... i 72,538 — —
Special charges . ...t e 23,534 8,162 7,405
Income (loss) from operations ......... ... ... .. i, (99,193)  (12,058) 11,017
Interest iNCOmMe .. ... .ottt e R — — 531
INterest @XPEISE. - o v vttt e e et e e e (10,128) (7,773) (9,367)
OthEr EXPEIISE -\ vttt o e ettt e e e (7,148) (5,432) —
Income (loss) before income taxes. ........ ..., (116,469)  (25,263) 2,181
Provision (benefit) for income taxes .......... ... .. ... ... 1,054 (1,291) (884)
Netincome (10Ss) ... .. i (117,523)  (23,972) 3,065
Preferred stock dividends . .......... ... . . o (1,846) (98) —
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders ............. $(119,369) $(24,070) § 3,065
Net loss per common share, basic .......... ... ... $ (341) $ (069) $ 0.10
Net loss per common share, diluted .. ........................... $ (341) $ (069) $ 0.10
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic............... 35,034 35,121 29,990
Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted ............. 35,034 35,121 30,441

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Series A Accumulated
Cumulative Class A Other Total
Class A Class B Convertible Common  Additional Retained  Comprehensive Total Comprehensive
Common Common Preferred Exchangeable Treasury  Paid-in Earnings fncome Stockholders’ income
Stock Stock Stock Shares Stock Capital (Deficit) (Loss) Equity (Loss}
(In thousands)
Balance at December 31, 1998 ................. $ﬂ $4 5§ — $ 495 § — §$ 34506 $ (20,170) §$ — $ 14,852
Netincome ..., — — — — — — 3,065 —_ 3,065 § 3,065
Foreign currency translation adjustment.......... - — — — — — — 216 216 216
Unrealized holding gain on certain investments
(netof tax) ..ot — — — — — — — 117 117 117
) Total comprehensive income ................... 3,398
Issuance of Class A Common Stock in connection
with acquired businesses. . ................... 2 — — — — 17,690 — — 17,692
i Issuance of Class A Common Stock in connection
i with option exercises............ ... o... — — — — — 857 — — 857
] Initial public offering of Class A Common Stock.. 12 — — — — 103,015 — — 103,027
Value of options issued for Services rendered . . . .. — — — — —_ 6,031 — —_— 6,031
Tax benefit from employee Stock options ........ = - — — — 200 — — 200
Balance at December 31,1999 .. ............... _ﬂ 4 — 495 — 162,299 (17,10%) 333 146,057
Net oSS oot e — — — — — — (23,972) — (23,972)  (23,972)
Foreign currency translation adjustment.......... — — — — — — — (681) (681) (681)
Unrealized holding loss on certain investments (net
of tax and reclassification adjustments) ........ — — —_ — — — — (47) (47) (47)
Total comprehensive income ................... (24,700)
Purchases of Class A
Common Stock ........ ... — — — — (947) — — — (947)
Issuance of Class A
Common Stock in connection with option exercises — — — — — 636 — — 636
Conversion of Exchangeable Shares Into Class A
Common Stock ...... ... ... — — — (495) - 495 — — —
Conversion of Debentures into Series A Preferred
StocK. — — 21,000 — — (69) — — 20,931
Cumulative Dividend on Series A
Preferred Stock ........ ... .. ... = = 58 — — (98) — — —
Balance at December 31,2000 ................. 31 4 21,098 — (947) 163,263 (41,077) (393) 141,977
Net 1085 vt — — — — — —  (117,523) — (117,523)  (117,523)
Foreign currency translation adjustment.......... — — — — — — — (554) (554) (554)
Unrealized holding loss on certain investments (net
of tax and reclassification adjustments) ........ — — — — — — — (142) (142) (142)
Total comprehensive income ................... (118,219)
Purchases of Class A Common Stock ........... — — — — (323) - — — (323)
Issuance of treasury stock in connection with
restricted stock issuances .................. .. —_ — - — 976 192 — — 1,168
Issuance of Class A Common Stock in connection
with Employee Stock Purchase Plan .......... 1 — — — — 98 — — 99
Value of warrants issued in connection with Senior
credit facility ... ... — — — — — 830 — — 830
Conversion of Debentures into Series A Preferred
Stock. ... — — —_ —_ —_ (83) — — (83)
Cumulative Dividend on Series A
Preferred Stock . ... ... o - - 1,846 —_ —_ (1,846) — —_ —
Balance at December 31,2001 ................. $32 $4 $22,944 $ — $(294) $162,504 $(158,600) § (1,091) $§ 25,499

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31
2001 2000 1999
(In thousands)

Operating Activities

Net income (lOSS) . .ottt $(117,523) $(23,972) $ 3,065
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization ... ......... ettt 9,421 9,876 7,951
Deferred INCOME tAXES . . ..o ottt — — (2,539)
Goodwill IMPAITMEnt . . ...t s 72,538 — —
Write-off of fixed assets and investments. . ... ... ..o 13,269 6,880 —
Provision for Bad debts . .. ... e 2,716 4,552 —
Non-cash equity Charges ... .. ... o e 1,965 1,986 6,031
NON-CaSh, OTNET . . e e e e 2,110 1,301 —
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquired businesses:
Accounts receivable ... ... e 9,137 (7,284) (3,724)
Due from affiliates . ... ... . 143 (454) 244
Due to affiliates. .. ........................ e — (749) (316)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . .. ...t 1,613 789 2,013
Income tax receivable . ... 4,350 (4,350) —
Accounts payable and accrued EXPenses . ..o v it 7,288 (5,461) 444
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings ............ .. ... .. oo 422 6,670 (4,131)
Deferred revenue ... ... (813) 253 295
O RET oo 107 92 (1,058)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities. .. ... ittt 6,743 (9,871) 8,275
Investing Activities
Purchase of property and eqUIpmMent ... . ... .. i e (3,249) (8,585) (5,220)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired. ........ ... .. ... il — (8,205) (14,784)
Other INVESTMENTS . . . ottt ot et et e e e e e e e — (415) (1,083)
Net cash used in investing actiVIties ... ... ....ut ittt (3,249)  (17,205)  (21,087)
Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of Class A and Class B Common Stock.............. ... . ...... 99 566 104,085
Repurchases of Class A Common Stock ... ... .. i i e (323) (947) —
Due from officers .. ... 30 63 387
Borrowings (repayments) under senior credit facility ......... ... ... ... i (7,594) 23,076 17,599
Repayment of debentures due to affiliates......... ... .o i — — (25,607)
Proceeds from debentures due to affiliates ........ . ... . 7,500 " 2,500 —
Borrowings under Bridge Loan ... ... .. — — 2,000
Repayments under Bridge Loan . ... .o — — (79,564)
Repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations . . . . .. e (3,095) (160) (771)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities......... ... ... . it (3,383) 25,098 18,125
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents......... ... . ... ... .. ... . ... 32 (711) 198
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents...... ... ... .. ...... . ... ... 143 (2,689) 5,515
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ........ ... .. ... .. . i 4,322 7,011 1,496
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ........ ... .. i i $§ 4465 $§ 4322 § 7,011
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for interest ... ... i $ 3,529 § 5328 § 7,744
Cash paid during the year fortaxes ........ ... o i $ 295 8§ 4472 $ 151

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2001

1. Basis of Presentation

Nextera Enterprises, Inc. consists of Lexecon, one of the world’s preeminent economics consulting firms.
Lexecon provides law firms, corporate clients and regulatory agencies with analysis of complex economic
issues in connection with legal and regulatory proceedings, strategic planning discussions and other business
activities. Lexecon’s services involve the application of economic, financial, and public policy principles to
issues of the marketplace in various contexts and for a number of clients in a variety of industries. Lexecon’s
services fall into the following broad categories: litigation support, business consulting and public policy
studies.

The majority stockholder of the Company is Nextera Enterprises Holdings, Inc., which is controlled by
Knowledge Universe, Inc., which, in turn, is controlled by Knowledge Universe, L.L.C.

Acquisitions

The Company has used the purchase method of accounting for its acquisitions. Operating results of
acquired companies have been included in the Company’s results of operations only from the effective date of
each respective acquisition. Allocation of purchase price for these acquisitions was based upon estimates of the
fair value of the net assets. Pro forma data is not presented for the acquisitions completed in 2000 or 1999
since the acquisitions were not material to the Company’s results of operations.

2000

Effective January 1, 2000, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain labilities of
Cambridge Economics, Inc. (“Cambridge Economics”), a Massachusetts-based consulting firm that provides
strategic, economic and business transformation and other services to a diverse group of domestic and
international clients. Cambridge Economics was acquired for $8.4 million of cash and a $2.1 million
promissory note.

1999

Effective September 30, 1999, the Company, through Sibson AP, LLC, a newly formed acquisition
subsidiary of the Company, acquired substantially all of the assets of SCCAP Pty Limited (“SCCAP”), an
Australian human resources consulting firm, for $1.7 million in cash.

Effective June 1, 1999, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of The
Economics Resource Group, Inc. (“ERG”), a Massachusetts-based consulting firm that provides economic
and strategic services primarily to energy and other regulated industries. ERG was acquired for $9.6 million of
cash and a $2.4 million promissory note.

Effective May 18, 1999, the Company acquired NeoEnterprises, Inc. (“NeoEnterprises”), a Connecti-
cut-based electronic commerce, or “e-commerce,” consulting and development company. NeoEnterprises was
acquired for 170,000 shares of Class A Common stock.

Effective January 29, 1999, the Company acquired the stock of The Alexander Corporation Limited
(*Alexander”), a United Kingdom-based human resources consulting firm. Alexander was acquired for
£360,000 (approximately $590,000) and 150,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, including the payment of
£60,000 (approximately $100,000) in satisfaction of amounts payable under an earnout arrangement.

28




NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — {(Continued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company
accounts for its investments in which it owns less than 20% of the voting stock and does not possess significant
influence over the operations of the investee under the cost method of accounting.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenues from consulting services primarily under time and materials billing
arrangements, and to a lesser extent, under capped-fee and fixed-price billing arrangements. Under time and
materials arrangements, revenues are recognized as the services are provided. Revenues on fixed-price and
capped-fee contracts are recognized using the percentage of completion method of accounting and are
adjusted monthly for the cumulative impact of any revision in estimates. The Company determines the
percentage of completion of its contracts by comparing costs incurred to date to total estimated costs. Contract
costs include direct labor and expenses related to the contract performance. Costs and estimated earnings in
excess of billings represents revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. Deferred revenue represents
billings in excess of revenues recognized. Net revenues exclude reimbursable expenses charged to clients,
however, effective January 1, 2002, reimbursable expenses will be included with net revenues.

Cask and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and demand deposits accounts. The Company
considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

Available-for-Sale Investments

The Company’s marketable equity securities are considered available-for-sale investments and are carried
in “Other assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at market value, with the difference
between cost and market value, net of related tax effects, recorded in the “Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss)” component of Consolidated Stockholders’ Equity. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, the
market value of available-for-sale investments was $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively, which was
$(0.1) million less than and $0.1 million more than the adjusted cost basis of such investments, respectively.
The unrealized gains (losses) component of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) was $(72,000)
and $70,000 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.




NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Furniture and fIXtUIES. . . ... oottt 5-7 years
EQuipment . .. . 3-5 years
SO W aLE . . oo e 3 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the lease term or the useful life of the property.
Amortization of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation.

Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets

Intangible assets consist principally of the cost in excess of assets acquired resulting from acquisitions and
are being amortized on a straight-line basis over 5 years for intangibles relating to personnel and principally
over 40 years for other intangibles. Other long-lived assets include, among others, investments in affiliates,
certain available-for-sale investments and fixed assets. The Company assesses the carrying value and future
useful life of these assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may have
occurred or that the future life has diminished. The Company considers the future undiscounted cash flows in
assessing the recoverability of these assets. If impairment is indicated through this review, the carrying amount
of the intangible assets will be reduced to their respective estimated fair values as determined based upon the
best information available in the circumstances. Such information likely would include a review of comparable
market prices of similar assets or businesses, if available, or an estimate of fair value based upon the present
value of estimated expected future cash flows. Any impairment is charged to expense in the period in which
the impairment is incurred.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company’s accounting policy for goodwill will follow Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Refer to Recently Issued Accounting Pronounce-
ments below.

Financial Instruments

The carrying value of financial instruments such as cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair values based on the short-term maturities of these
instruments. The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value based on references to similar
instruments.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company provides its services to customers in diversified industries, primarily in the United States.
The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral.
The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses and such losses have been within management’s
expectations. No customer accounted for more than 10% of net revenues in 2001, 2000 and 1999. During 2001
and 2000, one customer within the economics consulting group represented approximately 17% and 11% of the
economic consulting net revenues, respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated at year-end exchange rates, and
revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates. The gains and losses resulting from the
changes in exchange rates from year to year have been reported in other comprehensive income. Foreign
currency transaction gains and losses are included in the accompanying statement of operations and are not
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

material for the periods presented. The foreign currency translation component of Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) was $(1,019,000), and $(465,000) at December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Basic and Diluted FEarnings Per Common Share

The Company presents two earnings per share amounts, basic earnings per common share and diluted
earnings per common share. Basic earnings per common share includes only the weighted average shares
outstanding and excludes any dilutive effects of options, warrants and convertible securities. The dilutive
effects of options, warrants and convertible securities are added to the weighted average shares outstanding in
computing diluted earnings per common share. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, basic and
diluted earnings per common share are the same due to the antidilutive effect of potential common shares
outstanding.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the financial reporting and the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted income taxes and laws that will be in effect when
temporary differences are expected to reverse.

Stock-Based Compensation and Other Equity Instruments

The Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees (“APB 25”) and related Interpretations in accounting for its employee stock options.
Under APB 235, because the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options equals or exceeds the
market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized.

The Company accounts for equity instruments issued to non-employees in exchange for goods or services
using the fair value method. Accordingly, warrants issued to Knowledge Universe, Inc. in connection with an
acquisition (see Note 8) and warrants issued to the Senior Lenders have been recorded at their fair value on
the date of grant.

Recently [ssued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 141, Business Combinations, and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. Under the new rules, goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives will no longer be amortized but will be subject to annual
impairment tests in accordance with the Statements. Other intangible assets with finite lives will continue to
be amortized over their useful lives.

The Company will apply the new rules on accounting for goodwill and other ihtangiblc assets beginning in
the first quarter of 2002. Application of the nonamortization provisions of the Statement is expected to result
in an increase in net income of $2.3 million ($0.06 per share) per year assuming no tax provision or benefit.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which
addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-
lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS 143 is required to be adopted for fiscal years
beginning after June 13, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s results of operations.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets.” SFAS 144 supercedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
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and for Long Lived Assets To Be Disposed of.” SFAS 144 applies to all long-lived assets (including
discontinued operations) and consequently amends Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting
the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business.” SFAS 144 is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001 although early
adoption is allowed. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s results of operations.

In November 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Topic D-103 regarding “Income
Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for “Out-of-Pocket” Expenses Incurred.” This
announcement requires that reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred should be charac-
terized as revenue in the Statement of Operations. The Company incurs incidental expenses in the delivery of
services to clients, commonly referred to as “out-of-pocket” expenses, that include, but are not limited to,
travel and related charges. Comparative financial statements for prior periods are required to be reclassified to
comply with the guidance of this staff announcement. The provisions of the announcement will be effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and, accordingly, will be adopted by the Company beginning
January 1, 2002. The Company is currently reviewing the impact of this announcement on the results of
operations.

Reclassification
Certain reclassifications were made to the 2000 and 1999 financial statements in order that they may be
consistent with the 2001 presentation.
3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following:
December 30,

2001 2000

(In thousands)
Equipment ... ... i e $3,453 $ 9,230
SO tWATE . 2,383 3,201
Furniture and fiXtUres . ... . 1,149 4,208
Leasehold improvements .. . ... ...t i e e e 1,610 4,558
8,595 21,197
Less: accumulated depreciation ........... ... .ot 4,592 6,655

Property and equipment, net. . ...ttt $4,003  $14,542
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4. Imtangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following:
December 30,

2001 2000
(In thousands)
Goodwill ..o $82,539  $165,547
intangibles related to personnel ...........c. i 1,190 6,048
83,729 171,595
Less: accumulated amortization .. ...t i e 6,225 12,136
Intangible assets, Net . ... ... it e $77,504  $159,459

During 2001, the Company recorded a $72.5 million goodwill impairment charge. The technology
consulting business goodwill charge was $32.0 million due to the exiting of the business and the human capital
consulting business charge was $40.5 million due to the decline in the value of the business directly related to
the downturn in the economy. The impairment of the human capital consulting business was based on the sale
price of the business excluding any contingent consideration that may be achieved in the future based on the
performance of the human capital consulting business.

5. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31

2001 2000
(In thousands)
Trade accounts payable ........ ... ... . ... ... L. e $ 2,494 $ 4918
Accrued payroll and compensation ........ ... ... i e 14,960 9,317
Accrued benefits. . . ..o 2,151 1,757
L6 3111 o 3,092 2,148

$22,697  $18,140

6. [Financing Arrangements
Long-Term Debt
Senior Credit Facility

Effective March 30, 2001, the Senjor Credit Facility was amended to waive compliance with certain
covenants through January 2002. In connection with this waiver, the Company agreed to permanently reduce
the $46.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the facility by $8.05 between April 2001 and December 31,
2001. Additionally, no further borrowings or Letters of Credit were allowed to be drawn or issued under the
facility. Borrowings under the amended facility bear interest at the lender’s base rate plus 3.50%, with payment
of 2% of this rate deferred until January 2, 2002 and waived if the facility is fully repaid by December 15,
2001. The waiver required the Company to pay a fee to the Senior Lenders of $0.9 million and to issue the
Senior Lenders warrants to purchase 1,418,351 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at an
exercise price of $0.86 per share, exercisable at the Senior Lenders’ sole discretion at any time prior to
18 months after payment in full of all of the Company’s obligations due under the amended Senior Credit
Facility. The Senior Lenders can elect in their sole discretion to require the Company to redeem the warrants
for a $0.5 million cash payment by the Company (except to the extent prohibited by a non-waiveable
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applicable law or regulation). Additionally, an affiliate of Knowledge Universe guaranteed $2.5 million of the
Company’s obligations under the Senior Credit Facility. This affiliate was granted a security interest and lien
in all of the Company’s assets, junior and subordinated to the security interest and lien of the Senior Lenders.

The Company failed to comply with the financial covenants under the Senior Credit Facility as of
August 31, 2001. On November 14, 2001, the Company and the Senior Lenders entered into a forbearance
agreement to waive the covenant violations through January 2, 2002. The forbearance agreement was further
amended on January 2, 2002, January 30, 2002, and February 27, 2002, extending the forbearance agreement
through April 1, 2002.

Effective March 29, 2002, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
(Senior Credit Facility) with the Senior Lenders. Under the new agreement, the Company agreed to
permanently reduce the borrowings outstanding under the facility by $6.5 million in 2002 and by $8.0 million
in 2003. The amended Senior Credit Facility matures on January 2, 2004. Borrowings under the facility will
bear interest at the lender’s base rate plus 2.0%, with the potential for the borrowing rate to be reduced 100
basis points upon achieving certain financial and operational milestones. In connection with the amended
Senior Credit Facility, the Company will pay a $0.9 million fee to the Senior Lenders over the next two years
and to issue the Senior Lenders additional warrants to purchase 400,000 shares of the Company’s Class A
Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.60 per share, exercisable at the Senior Lenders’ sole discretion at
any time prior to 18 months after payment in full of all of the Company’s obligations due under the amended
Senior Credit Facility. The Senior Lenders can elect in their sole discretion to require the Company to redeem
the warrants for $0.2 million cash payment (except to the extent prohibited by a non-waiveable applicable law
or regulation). An affiliate of Knowledge Universe, an entity that indirectly controls Nextera, has agreed to
continue to guarantee $2.5 million of the Company’s obligations under the amended Senior Credit Facility.
The amended Senior Credit Facility contains covenants related to the maintenance of financial ratios,
operating restrictions, restrictions on the payment of dividends and disposition of assets. The revised covenants
were based on the Company’s operating plan for 2002 and 2003.

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:
December 31

2001 2000
(In thousands)
Senior Credit Facility ...... .o i e e $38,428  $46,022
Unsecured note payable to a former stockholder of an acquired company,
issued in connection with a non-compete agreement. Annual payments of
$120,000 are due through May 2010. Interest accrues annually at 8.7%. . . 728 780
Promissory note payable to former stockholders of ERG, interest at 5.0%,
due January 1, 2001, . .. .. . e — 2,400
Promissory note payable to former stockholders of Cambridge Economics,
interest at 5.88%, due January 10,2002 ....... ... . ... ... i 2,100 2,100
41,256 51,302
Less: CUMTENT POTTION . .o\ i ittt et ettt e e e e e 16,657 10,502
Long-term debt ... ... . e $24.599  $40,800
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Annual maturities of long-term debt for the years ending after December 31, 2001 are as follows (in
thousands):

2002 L $16,657
2008 L e 8,062
2004 . 15,995
20005 . 73
2006 e 79
T hereaf e L o e 390

$41,256

Debentures Due to Affiliates

In 1998, the Company issued two debentures with principal amounts of $25.0 million and $23.0 million,
respectively. Both debentures were due on May 1, 2002. The debentures accrue interest at a rate of 10%
retroactive to the date the initial capital was funded.

During 1999, the Company repaid $25.6 million of principal and interest due under the Debentures.
Effective August 31, 1999, in accordance with the terms of the Debenture, unpaid interest then outstanding
was converted to principal, with interest accruing thereafter payable on a quarterly basis. Principal and interest
amounts due under the Debentures are subordinated to borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility.

In December 2000, $21.0 million of the then outstanding debentures was converted into Series A
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (see Note 10 — Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock)
and dividends accruing thereafter will be added to the outstanding principal balance on a quarterly basis.

On December 15, 2000, the Company entered into a debenture agreement with Knowledge Universe
Capital Co. LLC, an affiliate of our majority shareholder, for borrowings of $10.0 million. The Company
borrowed $2.5 million on December 15, 2000, with additional funding of $2.5 million received on January 15,
2001 and $5.0 million received on February 15, 2001. Interest accrues on the debentures at a rate of 10%,
compounded monthly, and is payable on the last day of each quarter. Accrued but unpaid interest is added to
the outstanding principal balance. Borrowings under the debentures are due and payable on 10 days demand
by the lender and interest and principal repayments are subordinated to borrowings under the Senior Credit
Facility. Currently, interest is being accrued on the debentures, however, cash payments are restricted under
the Senior Credit Facility unless certain financial covenants are achieved.

Effective March 2002, the maturity date on the outstanding debentures was extended to January 2, 2004.

Bridge Loan Payable

In August 1998, the Company secured a $40.0 million credit facility (the “Bridge Loan”), which bore
interest during 1998 at the rate of LIBOR plus 450 basis points per annum (10.2% at December 31, 1998).
Effective December 31, 1998, the Bridge Loan was amended to increase the credit facility to $77.5 million, to
add Knowledge Universe, Inc. as a lender under the credit facility and to extend the maturity to May 31, 1999.
Borrowings under the amended Bridge Loan bore interest at a rate of 12% and were repaid in full during 1999.

Note Payable to Bank

The Company had a Canadian line of credit that provides for maximum borrowings of approximately
$0.3 million. The line of credit was paid in full and cancelled in 2001.
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7. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31
2001 2000 1999
(In thousands)

Current:
Federal . ... $§ —  $(1,291) $ 1,308
N 7 O 800 — 347
Foreign .. ... oo 254 — —
Total current tax provision (benefit) ......................... 1,054 (1,291) 1,655
Deferred:
Federal .. ..o — — (2,158)
S . v e — — (381)
Total deferred tax provision (benefit) ........................ — — (2,539)
Total tax provision (benefit) ................... ... ......... $1,054  $(1,291) $ (834)

The reconciliation of the consolidated effective tax rate of the Company is as follows:

Year Ended December 31
2001 2000 1999

Tax (benefit) at statutory rate. .. ... ...t 34H)% (34)% 34%
State taxes (benefit), net of federal benefit....................... ... — — (1)
Permanent differences, primarily non-deductible goodwill .............. 2 4 49
Valuation allowance adjustments, primarily net operating losses not

benefited . . ... . 31 24 (123)
Other ... .. 2 1 =
Income tax provision (benefit) ...... ... ... ... i 1% (5% 41)Y%
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31
2001 2000
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

RESETVES .« ot ot e $ 3,277 $ 3,439
Other accrued Habilities . ... oot 4,514 1,326
Depreciation and other ........ ... . . 122 —
Deductible goodwill amortization......... ... 11,850 ~
Net operating loss carryforwards .. ...... ... . .. i, 33,645 10,669
Deferred tax as86l8. . ..ottt e e e e 53,408 15,434
Valuation allowance .. ... . . 53,408 12,551
— 2,883
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and other ... .. ... . — (110)
Deductible goodwill amortization. ........ ... .. it — (1,947)
Cash-to-accrual adjustments. . ........ ... i — (826)
$ — 5 —

Valuation allowances relate to uncertainties surrounding the realization of tax loss carryforwards and the
tax benefit attributable to certain tax assets of the Company.

During 2001, the increase in the valuation allowance represented a reserve against all deferred tax assets
that must be realized through the generation of taxable income in future periods.

At December 31, 2001, the Company has tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$84.2 million, which will expire through the year 2021.

8. Related Party Transactions

The Company from time to time performs professional consulting services for Knowledge Universe,
L.L.C. and certain of its subsidiaries. Revenues recognized from performance of such services were $125,000,
and $290,000 in 2000 and 1999, respectively. No consulting services were performed for Knowledge Universe,
L.L.C. and certain of its subsidiaries in 2001. During 2000 and 1999, the Company recognized $2,872,000 and
$3,674,000, respectively of revenue in connection with professional services performed for an entity whose
chairman, founder and Chief Executive Officer is a senior executive of one of the Company’s subsidiaries. A
subsidiary of Knowledge Universe L.L.C. is also a minority investor in the entity.

During 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company recognized revenues totaling $1.5 million, $20.6 million and
$0.9 million from certain entities in which it holds equity investments during 2000 and 1999. Knowledge
Universe L.L.C. or its subsidiaries have also made equity investments in certain of these entities.

In 1999, Management fees of $200,000 due to Knowledge Universe, Inc. were incurred. No management
fees were incurred after April 1999.

The law firm of Maron & Sandler has served as Nextera’s general counsel since its inception. Stanley E.
Maron and Richard V. Sandler, two of the Company’s Directors, are partners of Maron & Sandler. In 2001,
2000, and 1999, Maron & Sandler billed Nextera approximately $244,000, $245,000 and $650,000, respec-
tively, for legal services rendered to the Company.
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Since June 1997, Nextera has retained RFG Financial Group, Inc. to provide accounting and financial
services. Ralph Finerman, a Director, is President of RFG Financial Group, Inc. In 1999, the Company paid
RFG Financial Group approximately $20,000 for their services. Services rendered in 2001 and 2000 were
immaterial.

During 1999, the Company utilized a portion of the net proceeds it received from its initial public offering
of Class A Common Stock to repay to Knowledge Universe, Inc. $25.2 million of principal and interest due
under the Debentures and $38.5 million of principal and interest due under the Bridge Loan. During 2000,
$21.0 million of these Debentures were recapitalized into Series A Preferred Stock (see Note 10).

In December 2000, the Company entered into a debenture agreement with Knowledge Universe Capital
Co. LLC for borrowings of $10.0 million. The Company borrowed $2.5 million on December 15, 2000, with
additional funding of $2.5 million received on January 15, 2001 and $5.0 million received on February 15,
2001 (see Note 6).

As consideration for a guaranty provided by Knowledge Universe, Inc. in connection with the Company’s
acquisition of Lexecon on December 31, 1998, the Company granted to Knowledge Universe, Inc. warrants to
purchase 250,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $8.00 share. The warrants expire on
December 31, 2003. The Company has included approximately $1.0 million, the estimated fair value of the
warrants, calculated using the Black-Scholes model, as a component of its purchase price incurred in
connection with the Lexecon acquisition.

As part of the fourth amendment to the Senior Credit Facility signed on March 30, 2001, an affiliate of
Knowledge Universe pledged a letter of credit in the amount of $2.5 million as collateral for the Senior Credit
Facility. This guarantee was extended to January 2, 2004.

9. Leases

The Company leases its office facilities under operating leases that expire from 2002 to 2012. The
majority of the leases require payments for additional expenses such as taxes, maintenance and utilities.
Certain of the leases contain renewal options. The Company also has operating leases for certain equipment.
Total rent expense was approximately $4.3 million, $7.5 million and $5.8 million, in 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively. The rent expense for 2001 excludes leases assigned to a third party in connection with the sale of
human capital consulting business. The Company also leases certain equipment under capital leases.
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Future minimum lease payments under capital leases and noncancelable operating leases (excluding
leases assigned to a third party in connection with the sale of human capital consulting business) for the years
ending after December 31, 2001 are as follows (in thousands):

Capital Leases Operating Leases

2002 . $ 642 $ 4,828
2003 . 296 4,157
2004 . 212 3,715
20005 — 3,430
2006 ... PP — 3,332
Thereafter . .. ... — 13,486
Total minimum lease payments ..............covvieneinn .. 1,150 $32,948
Less amounts representing interest ........... ..o, ’ 136
Present value of minimum capitalized lease payments .......... 1,014
Current portion. . ................... e 461
Long-term capitalized lease obligation ....................... § 553

10. Stockholders’ Equity
Class 4 and Class B Common Stock

On May 21, 1999, the Company completed its initial public offering of its Class A Common Stock. The
Company sold 11,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and realized net proceeds of $103,027,000.
Substantially all of these net proceeds were used to repay a portion of the Company’s then outstanding short-
and long-term debt.

The Company has 3,869,570 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding. The Class B Common Stock
has the same economic characteristics as the Class A Common Stock, except each Class B Common
stockholder has ten votes per share of Class B Common Stock.

Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferved Stock

On December 14, 2000, the Company entered into a Note Conversion Agreement with Knowledge
Universe, Inc. (the Note Conversion Agreement). Under the terms of the Note Conversion Agreement,
Knowledge Universe, Inc. converted $21.0 million of debentures (see Note 6 — Debentures Due to Affiliates)
into 210,000 shares of $0.001 par value Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (Series A Preferred
Stock). The Series A Preferred Stock bears dividends at a 10% rate from issuance through June 30, 2001 and
at a 7% rate thereafter. Such dividends are payable quarterly in arrears in cash or, at the option of the
Company, in additional nonassessable shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

The Series A Preferred Stock carries a liquidation preference equal to $100 per share and is convertible
into Class A Common Stock at the option of the holder beginning on June 30, 2001. For the period from
June 30, 2001 through December 14, 2002, the Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at a price equal to the
lesser of $3.00 or 150% of the average closing price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock for the
10 trading day period preceding June 30, 200! (the Initial Conversion Price). Thereafter, the conversion price
will be reset at the lower of the Initial Conversion Price or 80% of the average closing price for the 30 day
trading day period preceding December 14, 2002 (the Reset Conversion Price). In no event will either the
Initial Conversion Price or the Reset Conversion price be less than $0.6875 per share, the closing price of the
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Company’s Class A Common Stock on December 13, 2000. Each holder of Series A Preferred Stock will be
entitled votes on matters presented to shareholders on an as converted basis.

The Series A Preferred Stock is redeemable at the option of the Company at a price equal to $100 per
share plus accrued unpaid dividends through June 30, 2001. Additionally, beginning on December 14, 2004, in
the event that the average closing price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock for the 30 days prior to the
redemption is at least [50% of the Reset Conversion Price, the Series A Preferred Stock may be redeemed at
the option of the Company at a price equal to $106 per share plus accrued unpaid dividends though
December 14, 2005. Each year thereafter, the redemption price will decrease $1 per share until December 14,
2010, at which point the redemption price will be fixed at $100 per share plus accrued unpaid dividends.

On June 29, 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the exchange of the Series A Preferred
Stock to a debenture (the Exchange Debenture) subject to the approval of the Lenders under the Senior
Credit Facility. Knowledge Universe, Inc. has agreed to allow the Company to extend its right to exchange the
Series A Preferred Stock into the Exchange Debenture until June 15, 2002. If converted, Stockholders equity
would decrease by $22.9 million and Debentures due to affiliates would increase by approximately $23.5 mil-
lion. The Debentures would accrue interest at 10% and would be due on May 1, 2002. Principal and interest
amounts due under the Exchange Debenture would be subordinated to borrowings under the Senior Credit
Facility.

Treasury Stock

During 2001 and 2000, the Company repurchased 243,000 and 301,400 shares of Class A Common
Stock, respectively. Repurchased shares were used to offset the dilution caused by the Company’s Employee
Stock Purchase Plan and Employee Equity Participation Plan. The Company’s repurchases of shares of
Common Stock are recorded as “Treasury Stock™ and result in a reduction of “Stockholders’ Equity”. In July
of 2001, 316,097 shares of treasury stock were reissued. When treasury shares are reissued, the Company uses
a first-in, first-out method and the difference between the cost of treasury shares reissued and the repurchase
price is charged to ““Additional paid-in capital’

Employee Equity Paerticipation Plan

The Company has granted options principally under two stock option plans, adopted in 1998 and 1999.
Options granted under these plans have up to a 10 year life and vest principally over three to four year periods,
with certain options subject to acceleration if certain conditions are achieved. The exercise price of options
granted is generally equal to the fair market value of the Company’s Ciass A common stock on the date of
grant. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had reserved 24,500,000 shares of common for future issuance
under the stock option plans, of which 6,631,795 were available for future grants.

Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price
Cutstanding options at December 31, 1998 .................... 2,864,240 $6.44
Granted . ... e 8,484,573 8.27
Exercised .. ... . . e (497.729) 6.47
Forfeited . .. ... . (457,683) 6.61
Outstanding options at December 31,1999 .................... 10,393,401 7.717
Granted ... ... e 11,252,346 3.57
Exercised ... ... . (139,857) 4.55
Forfeited . ..., o o (2,464,755) 6.42
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Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding options at December 31,2000 .................... 19,041,135 5.49
Granted ... .. 4,064,000 0.53
Exercised .. ... . — —
Forfeited . ... (5,292,756) 5.08
Qutstanding options at December 31,2001 .................... 17,812,379 $4.48

|

The fair value of options granted in 2001 was $0.48.

A summary of information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2001 is as follows:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average
Remaining Weighted- Weighted-
Number Contractual Average Number Average
Range of Exercise Prices Qutstanding Life (Years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$0.50-$ 400 ............ 10,387,685 9.1 $ 1.32 1,960,991 $ 1.69
$4.01-$ 800 ............ 2,851,127 7.5 6.55 1,702,709 6.42
$8.01-$14.00 ............ 4,573,567 7.6 10.35 2,786,886 10.42
17,812,379 $ 4.48 6,450,586 $ 6.71

As of December 31, 2000 there were 3,514,191 options exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of
$7.80. The options exercisable at December 31, 1999 were 1,889,332 at a weighted average exercise price
of $7.66.

The Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”. If the Company had adopted the optional recognition provisions of SFAS 123 for its stock
option plans, net income (loss) and net income (loss) per common share would have been changed to the pro
forma amounts indicated below:

Year Ended December 31
2001 2600 1999
(In thousands, except per share data)

Net income (loss):

Asreported ... ... $(117,523) $(23,972) $3,065

Proforma.... ... ... . . .. (130,448)  (37,861) (993)
Net income (loss) per diluted common share:

AS TEPOTIEd ..ot $ (341) $ (069 $ 0.10

Proforma. ...t e $  (378) $ (1.08) $(0.03)

The fair value of stock options used to compute pro forma net loss and net loss per common share
disclosure is the estimated fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model assuming
expected volatility of 141% in 2001 and 65% in 2000 and 1999, respectively, and a risk free interest rate of
4.75%, 6.0% and 6.0% in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and an expected life of 6 years in 2001 and
10 years for 2000 and 1999.

Warrants

There were 1,668,351 warrants outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 250,000 warrants outstanding at
December 31, 2000 and 1999 (see notes 6 and 8).
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11, Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Commeon Share

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the net income
(loss) per common share computation:

Year Ended December 31

2001 2000 1999

(In thousards, except per share data)
Net income (loSS) ... .viinn i $(117,523) $(23,972) $ 3,065
Preferred dividends . .......... ... .. o (1,846) (98) —
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders ....... $(119,369) $(24,070) $ 3,065
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic........ 35,034 35,121 29,990
Dilutive effect of options and warrants.................... — — 451
Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted ... ... 35,034 35,121 30,441
Basic net income (loss) per common share................ $§ (341) $ (0.69) $§ 0.10
Diluted net income (loss) per common share.............. $ (3.41) $ (069) $ 0.10

In 2000, the Company had 3,611,455 of common stock equivalents, consisting of stock options, which
were not included in the computation of earnings per share because they were antidilutive. At December 31,
2001, there were no options which were not included in the computation of earnings per share due to being
antidilutive.

12. Retirement Savings Plans

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor retirement savings plans under Section 401 (k) of the
Internal Revenue Code for the benefit of all of their employees meeting certain minimum service require-
ments. Eligible employees may elect to contribute to the retirement plans subject to limitations established by
the Internal Revenue Code. The trustees of the plans select investment opportunities from which participants
may choose to contribute. Matching contributions are made at the discretion of the Company and, for certain
plans, as a percentage of employee contributions. Total discretionary and matching contribution expense under
the plans were $1.2 million, $1.9 million and $3.1 million in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

13. Special Charges
2001

During the quarter ended March 31, 2001, the Company approved actions to re-align and re-size the
Company’s cost structure, primarily within the technology consulting services group, as a result of softening
market conditions and reduced demand for technological services. As a result, the Company recorded special
charges totaling $5.4 million, consisting of $1.6 million for severance, $0.6 million for the termination of
certain Company initiatives, $0.8 million related to the costs of exiting or reducing certain leased premises,
and $2.4 million related to certain employee incentives. The headcount reductions included 48 consultants and
7 administrative personnel.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2001, the Company recorded special charges to further re-align and
re-size the Company’s cost structure. As a result, the Company recorded charges totaling $8.0 million
consisting of a $1.8 million severance charge associated with the second quarter’s headcount reduction of 60
professional and support personnel, primarily in the technology consulting services group; a $5.1 million charge
to provide for the expected costs of exiting or reducing certain leased premises and an employee incentive-
related expense of $1.1 million.
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During the quarter ended September 30, 2001, the Company recorded $8.8 million of special charges for
continued restructuring efforts. Included within this charge is $1.1 million of severance associated with 53
headcount reductions in the quarter, $3.5 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing
certain leased premises, a $4.0 million write-down of assets, substantially fixed assets, and an employee
incentive-related expense of $0.2 million.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded $1.3 million of special charges.
Included within this charge is $0.5 million of severance associated with 24 headcount reductions in the
quarter, $0.3 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing certain leased premises, and a
$0.5 million write-down of assets, substantially fixed assets.

Cash outlays during 2001 under the Company’s various restructuring efforts were $13.8 million.
Approximately $1.7 million of cash is expected to be expended over the next twelve months, primarily related
to real estate rental obligations and severance, and the remainder is expected to be paid over the next ten
years.

The restructuring charges and their utilization as of December 31, 2001 are summarized as follows (in
thousands):

Balance at Balance at

December 31, Q1-2001 Q2-2001 Q3-2001 Q4-2001 Utilized Accrual  December 31,
2000 Charge  Charge  Charge  Charge Non-Cash Cash Adjustment 2001

Severance............. $1,301 $1,574 $1,834 $1,072 $ 465 $ — §$ (5,562) $(429) $ 253
Facilities.............. 1,056 97 4,537 3,554 300 —  (3,365)  (600) 5,579
Employee Special

Incentives........... 1,736 2,378 1,090 180 — (1,143) (4,241) — —
Fixed Assets and other

asset write-downs .. .. 377 755 584 3,998 511 (6,517) — 600 308
Other ..., — 605 — — —_ —_ (603) — —

$4,470 $5,409 $8,045 $8,804 $1,276 §$(7,660) $(13,773) $(429) $6,142
2000

In the fourth quarter 2000, the Company awarded to certain employees special incentive-related
compensation awards. Such awards totaled $6.7 million and are payable in cash and restricted stock during
2001, subject to employees remaining employed by the Company on the dates of the payments. The Company
has recorded a special charge of $2.3 million in 2000 associated with the pro rata share of such payments over
the associated vesting period.

In October and December 2000, the Company implemented a plan to reduce its consulting and
administrative staffs, resulting in severance costs of approximately $2.4 million. Approximately $1.7 million of
this charge was paid in the fourth quarter of 2000 and the remainder of the accrual was paid in the first quarter
of 2001. In total, 108 consultants and administrative personnel were terminated. In June 2000, the Company
recorded a charge of $1.9 million as a result of severance costs incurred for seven individuals in connection
with management changes at the Company’s Technologies Services Group. Approximately $1.2 million of this
charge was paid in 2000 and the remainder is expected to be paid ratably through January of 2002. As of
December 31, 2000, approximately $1.3 million was accrued.

Primarily as a result of the fourth quarter workforce reduction described above, the Company identified
and made plans to vacate certain portions of its leased facilities. The Company recorded a charge of
$1.5 million associated with the cost of exiting these facilities, net of estimated sublease income, all of which
was accrued as of December 31, 2000.
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1999

The Company granted to certain non-employee consultants options to purchase 445,245 of its Class A
Common Stock at an exercise price of $14.00 per share in 1999. Such options were fully-vested upon grant.
The Company recorded a non-cash compensation expense of $4.4 million, which represented the estimated
fair value of the options calculated using the Black-Scholes model.

The Company recorded a non-cash compensation expense of $1.7 million, principally representing the
difference between the fair value of 197,760 fully-vested options granted in 1999 to certain non-stockholder
employees on the date of grant of $10.00 per share and the $1.50 exercise price of the options. Such options
were granted in final satisfaction of an agreement entered into in December 1998 under which payments
totaling $4.2 million in cash and fully-vested options to purchase 384,000 of Class A Common Stock at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share were granted during 1998,

In November 1999, in connection with a change in senior management, the Company implemented a
plan to reduce its administrative staff, resulting in severance costs of approximately $1.3 million. These
amounts were paid during the first and second quarters of 2000.

14. Other Expense

During 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded Other Expense of $7.1 million and $5.4 million,
respectively, associated with the write down to fair market value of certain equity investments.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to certain asserted claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The
Company intends to vigorously assert its rights and defend itself in any litigation that may arise from such
claims. While the ultimate outcome of these matters could affect the results of operations of any one quarter
or year when resolved in future periods, and while there can be no assurance with respect thereto, management
believes that after final disposition, any financial impact to the Company would not be material to the
Company’s financial position and results of operations or liquidity.

16. Assets held for sale

Effective January 30, 2002, the Company sold substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of it’s
human capital consulting business. The sales price was $14.7 million in cash (excluding $1.3 million subject to
a working capital adjustment) with potential contingent consideration up to $13.3 million based on operating
performance of the divested unit over the next two years. All consultants and support staff of the human
capital consulting business were transferred to the acquiring company. In connection with the anticipated sale,
a goodwill impairment charge of $7.5 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2001. The acquired assets
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and assumed liabilities have been classified as “Assets held for sale” on the balance sheet. The components of
the assets held for sale are as follows:

December 31,

2001
ACCOUNTS TeCEIVADIE .. .o $ 5,511
Fixed assets ..ottt e e 3,754
Intangible @SSels . . ...\ttt 4,134
Other assets . ... ...t 466
Assets held for sale . .. ... 13,865
Accounts payable and accrued expenses. ........ ... i i i 2,356
Assets held for sale, net ... ... ... $11,509
17. Quarterly Information (Unaudited)
First Second Third Fourth
2001
NEt TEVENUES. « o ottt et e et $ 34238 § 33024 $ 29968 $ 25,046
Gross profit .. ... o 10,103 13,399 11,553 10,311
Income (loss) before income taxes .................... (14,105)  (36,619) (54,370  (11,375)
Netincome (108S) ... v ittt (14,186)  (36,980)  (54,469)  (11,888)
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic o $ (042) $ (1.08) $ (1.36) $ (0.35)
Diluted ... $ (042) $ (1.08) $ (1.36) $ (033
2000
Nt TEVENUES. « o vttt ettt e e e $ 46,962 $ 44040 % 35805 $ 34,193
Gross Profit . ..o 20,746 19,048 10,313 12,499
Income (loss) before income taxes .................... 4,306 (255)  (10,449)  (18,865)
Net income (I08S) . ..o viiii e 2,485 (145) (6,241)  (20,071)
Net income (loss) per common share:
BasiC ..t § 007 $ 000 $ (0.18) $§ (0.57)
Diluted . ... e $§ 007 $ 000 $ (018 $ (0.57)

The net loss for the first quarter of 2001 includes special charges of $5.4 million, consisting of $1.6 million
for severance, $0.6 million for the termination of certain Company initiatives, $0.8 million related to the costs
of exiting or reducing certain leased premises, and $2.4 million related to certain employee incentives.

The second and third quarters of 2001 results included goodwill impairment charges of $26.7 million and
$38.3 million, respectively, related to the technology and human capital consulting groups. Additionally, the
second quarter of 2001 includes special charges of $8.0 million, consisting of $1.8 million for severance
charges, $5.1 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and reducing certain leased premises and an
employee incentive-related expense of $1.1 million. The third quarter of 2001 includes $8.8 million of special
charges including $1.1 million of severance, $3.5 million to provide for the expected costs of exiting and
reducing certain leased premises, a $4.0 million write-down of assets, substantially fixed assets, and an
employee incentive-related expense of $0.2 million.
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The fourth quarter of 2001 includes a goodwill impairment charge of $7.5 million relating to the human
capital consulting group and special charges of $1.3 million for severance costs, facilities and asset write-
downs.

The net loss for the second quarter of 2000 includes a charge of $1.9 million for severance costs incurred
in connection with management changes at the Company’s technology consulting group.

The decline in net income for the third quarter of 2000 is primarily attributable to a decrease in revenues
primarily from the Company’s technology consulting group due principally to an industry-wide decline in
demand for such services and, to a lesser extent, a decrease in revenues from the Company’s human capital
consulting group.

The net loss for the fourth quarter of 2000 incltudes a $2.4 million charge for severance costs, a
$1.5 million charge for the costs of exiting certain portions of leased facilities, a $5.4 million non-cash charge
associated with the write down to fair market value of certain investments, and a special charge of $2.3 million
associated with the pro rata share of payments for special incentive-related compensation awards granted to
certain employees.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting end Financial Disclosure

None.

PART III

ltem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this Item is set forth in the section headed “Proposal 1 — Election of
Directors” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company (the
“Proxy Statement™) which is expected to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001, and is incorporated in this report by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is set forth in the section headed “Executive Compensation” in our

definitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this report by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required by this Item is set forth in the section headed “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” in our definitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this report by
reference

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is set forth in the sections headed “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our definitive
Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this report by reference.

PART IV

Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report as Exhibits:

1. The following financial statements of and report of independent public accountants are included
in Item 8 of this Form 10-K:

o Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors
> Consolidated Balance Sheets
o Consolidated Statements of Operations
< Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
= Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
o Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. The following financial statement schedule is filed as part of this report and is attached hereto:
Schedule 11 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in
the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
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3. Exhibits:

Exhibit
Number

3.1(1)
3.2(2)
4.1(3)
4.2(4)
4.3(4)
4.4(5)

10.1(6)
10.2(7)
10.3(8)

10.4(2)

10.5(8)
10.6(2)
10.7(8)
10.8(9)
10.9(10)
10.10(16)
10.11(9)
10.12(9)
10.13(9)

10.14(11)

10.15(12)

10.16(13)
10.17(13)

10.18(14)

Description

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
Amended and Restated Bylaws
Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Relative Participating, Optional and Other Special
Rights of Preferred Stock and Qualifications, Limitations and Restrictions Thereof of Series A
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Nextera

Note Conversion Agreement by and between Knowledge Universe, Inc. dated as of December 14,
2000

Letter Agreement between Knowledge Universe, Inc. and Nextera Enterprises, Inc. dated June 29,
2001.

Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Participation Plan
Nextera/Lexecon Limited Purpose Stock Option Plan

Stockholders Agreement dated as of August 31, 1998 by and among Nextera Enterprises, L.L.C.,
Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and the individuals and other parties listed on the Table of Stockholders
attached thereto as Schedule A.

First Amendment to Stockholders Agreement dated as of December 15, 1998 by and among
Nextera Enterprises, L.L.C., Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and the individuals and other parties listed
on the signature pages thereto.

Contribution Agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 by and among Nextera Enterprises, Inc.,
Lexecon Inc. and the shareholders of Lexecon Inc. listed on the signature pages thereto.

Letter agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 by and among Nextera Enterprises, Inc.,
Knowledge Universe, Inc. and the individuals listed on the signature page thereto.

Warrant to Purchase Class A Common Stock of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. dated as of
December 31, 1998 issued to Knowledge Universe, Inc.

Amended and Restated Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in the principal amount of
$24,933,543.66 dated as of December 31, 1997.

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. dated as of
April 15, 1999.

Debenture of Nextera Enterprises, Inc. in the principal amount of $10,000,000 dated as of
December 15, 2000.

Agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 by and between Lexecon Inc. and Andrew M.
Rosenfield.

Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights Agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 between
Lexecon Inc. and Daniel R. Fischel.

Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights Agreement dated as of December 31, 1998 between
Lexecon Inc. and Dennis W. Carlton.

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., BankBoston, N.A. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto, dated
December 31, 2000.

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., BankBoston, N.A. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto, dated
November 14, 2000.

Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera Enterprises, Inc.,
BankBoston, N.A. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto.

Guarantee and Security Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., BankBoston, N.A. and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto.

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1999 by and among Nextera
Enterprises, Inc., Fleet National Bank and the entities listed on the signature pages thereto, dated
March 30, 2001.
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.19(14) Limited Guaranty Agreement dated as of March 30, 2001 by Knowledge Universe Capital Co.

LLC.

10.20(12) Employment Agreement dated October 24, 2000 between Nextera and Michael P. Muldowney.
10.21(12) Employment Agreement dated October 25, 2000 between Nextera and David Schneider.
10.22(16) Binding term sheet between Nextera Enterprises, Inc., David M. Schneider, Vincent C. Perro and

Michael P. Muldowney entered into in October 2001 regarding certain management incentive
arrangements.

10.23(16) Termination Agreement, Waiver and General Release between Nextera Enterprises, Inc.,

Sibson & Company LLC and Vincent C. Perro dated January 29, 2002.

10.24(15) Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of January 30, 2002 by and among The Segal Group, Inc., a

Delaware corporation, and Nextera Enterprises, Inc. and Sibson & Company, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company

21.1(16) List of Subsidiaries
23.1(16) Consent of Ernst and Young LLP, Independent Auditors

(1)

(2)

“)
(5)
(6)
@)
®)
)
(10)
(1)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)

(16)

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 dated November 17, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-63789) dated January 21, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference. (3) Filed as an exhibit to
Nextera’'s Amendment No. 7 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-63789) dated
May 17, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an appendix to Nextera’s definitive proxy statement for its annual meeting of stockholders held
on July 12, 2001, filed on June 20, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Amendment No. 6 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-63789) dated May 6, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-63789) dated
September 18, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Amendment No. 3 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-63789) dated February 24, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Amendment No. 5 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-63789) dated April 16, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended September 30,
2000 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to Nextera’s Form 8-K filed on February 15, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference.

Filed herewith.
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NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC,
SCHEDULE II. VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

: Balance at
— Beginning of  Charged to End of
- Description Period QOperations  Acquisitions  Deductions Period
p Period ended December 31, 1999
Allowance for uncollectible accounts ... $1,267,000 $ 871,000 $ —  $1,185,000 $ 953,000
Period ended December 31, 2000
Allowance for uncollectible accounts ... $§ 953,000 $4,552,000 $50,000 $3,004,000 $2,551,000
Period ended December 31, 2001 .
Allowance for uncollectible accounts ... $2,551,000 $2,716,000 § — $2,291,000 $2,976,000
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NEXTERA ENTERPRISES, INC.

By /s/  DAVID SCHNEIDER

David Schneider,
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

March 29, 2002

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/  DaAvID SCHNEIDER Chairman of the Board, President, March 29, 2002
David Schneider Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  MICHAEL P. MULDOWNEY Chief Financial Officer March 29, 2002
Michael P. Muldowney (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)
/s/ STEVEN B. FINK Director March 29, 2002
Steven B. Fink
Director March , 2002
Gregory J. Clark
/s/ RALPH FINERMAN Director March 28, 2002
Ralph Finerman
/s/  KE1TH D. GRINSTEIN Director April 1, 2002
Keith D. Grinstein
/s/  STANLEY E. MARON Director March 29, 2002
Stanley E. Maron
/s/  RICHARD V. SANDLER Director April 1, 2002
Richard V. Sandler
/s/  RICHARD L. SANDOR Director March 29, 2002
Richard L. Sandor
/s/  KARL SussMaN Director March 28, 2002

Karl Sussman
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NEXTERA'S CORPORATE INFORMATION

BoarDp OorF DIRECTORS

Davip M. SCHNEIDER Chairman of the Board,
President, and Chief Executive Officer

GREGORY J. CLARK Director
RarLpH FINERMAN Director
STEVEN B. FINK Director
Kerra D. GRINSTEIN Director
STANLEY E. MARON Director
RICHARD V. SANDLER Dircctor
RicuarD L. SANDOR Director
KARL SussMaAN Director

ExeEcuTivE OFFICERS AND KEY MANAGEMENT:

DaviD M. SCHNEIDER  Chairman of the Board,
President, and Chief Executive Officer
MicHAEL P. MULDOWNEY  Chief Financial Officer

STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

Stock LisTiNG
Nextera Enterprises, Inc., Class A Common Stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol of NXRA.

TRANSFER AGENT
Inquiries concerning the transfer or exchange of shares, lost stock certificates, duplicate mailings, or changes of address should be directed to the
Company’s transfer agent at:

Chase Mellon Shareholder Services
Overpeck Centre

85 Challenger Road

Ridgetield Park, N} 07660

(800) 288-9541

(201) 329-8660
www.chasemellon.com

INVESTOR INFORMATION REQUESTS
Investors, shareholders, and security analysts seeking information should refer to the Company’s website at www.nextera.com or call Nextera’s

investor relations firm Citigate Sard Verbinnen at (212) 687-8080.

ANNUAL MEETING
June 13,2002

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The following discussion contains “forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future events. These statenients
can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictiy to historic or current facts, They use words such as “anticipate,” “estimate.” “expect.” "project,” “intend,” “plan.
“believe” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of tuture operating or financial pertormance. fn particular, these forward-
tooking statements include statements relating to future actions or the eutcome of financial results. From time to time, we also may provide oral or written forward-look-
ing statements in other materials released to the public. Any or all of the forward-looking statements in this annual report and in any other public statements may turn
out to be meorrect. Phey can be atfected by maccurate assumpions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties. Consequently, no forward-tooking statement can be
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materiatty from those suggested. These factars inctude, but are not limited to, those discussed under the caprion “ftem 1. Business - Factors That May Aftect Our Future
Performance” in the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 1, 2002 New factors emerge from time to time.and it is not pos-
sible for us to predict all these factors nor can we assess the impact of these factors on our business or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause
actual results to differ materially from those contained tany forward-looking statements. Given these visks and uncertainties, vou should not place undue reliance on

forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results,




Nexters

CorRPORATE

4 Cambridge Center
Cambridge, MA 02142
Phone: (617) 494-0844

Fax: (617) 494-1248

Orrer Orroces

Harvard Square
One Mittlin Place
Cambridge, MA 02138
Phone: (617) 520-0200
Fax: (617) 576-3524

Kendall Square
4 Cambridge Center
Cambridge, MA 02142
Phone: (617} 225-0537
Fax: (617)225-0978

332 South Michigan Avenue
Chicagﬂ, 1 60604
Phone: (312) 322-0200
Fax: (312) 322-0218




